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The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition, results of operations, and cash
flow of PHX Energy Services Corp. (“PHX Energy” or the “Corporation”) should be read in conjunction with the Corporation’s
annual audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the accompanying
notes contained therein, as well as other sections contained within the Corporation’s 2017 annual report. Readers can also
obtain additional information on the Corporation from its most recent Information Circular and Annual Information Form
(“AIF”) filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. This MD&A has been prepared taking into consideration information available up
to and including February 28, 2018.
PHX Energy’s audited annual financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 has been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The MD&A and audited annual financial statements
were reviewed by PHX Energy’s Audit Committee and approved by PHX Energy’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) on
February 28, 2018.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information and
Statements
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information and statements within the meaning of applicable securities laws. The
use of "expect", "anticipate", "continue", "estimate", "objective", "ongoing", "may", "will", "project", "could", "should", "can",
"believe", "plans", "intends", "strategy" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking information or statements.
The forward-looking information and statements included in this MD&A are not guarantees of future performance and should
not be unduly relied upon. These statements and information involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements
and information. The Corporation believes the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements and information are
reasonable, but no assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct. Such forward-looking statements
and information included in this MD&A should not be unduly relied upon. These forward-looking statements and information
speak only as of the date of this MD&A.
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In particular, forward-looking information and statements contained in this MD&A include, without limitation:


As at December 31, 2017, $5.4 million of equipment was on order and is expected to be received within the first
half of 2018.



PHX Energy anticipates that $10.5 million in capital expenditures will be spent in the 2018-year. The 2018 program
is mainly allocated toward the Velocity and 7.25” Atlas high performance drilling motor fleets as these technologies
are in high demand and offer significant advantages in key basins across North America.



Peters & Co. Limited. forecast that 2018 conventional capital spending will remain relatively flat year-over-year.



Capital spending in 2017 by key US producers is estimated by Peters & Co. Limited to be 55 percent greater than
in 2016 and they also forecast a slight increase in 2018.



The planned capital expenditures are expected to be financed primarily by funds from operations. However, if a
sustained period of market and commodity price uncertainty and financial market volatility persists in 2018, the
Corporation's activity levels, cash flows and access to credit may be negatively impacted, the proceeds from
borrowing may be required to fund operations, and the expenditure level would be reduced accordingly.
Conversely, if future growth opportunities present themselves, the Corporation would look at expanding this
planned capital expenditure amount.

The above are stated under the headings: “Overall Performance”, “Industry Activity & Statistics”, and “Cash Requirements for
Capital Expenditures”. In addition, statements regarding the expected impact of adopting Future Changes in Accounting
Policies and all information contained within the Financial Instruments, Business Risk and Outlook section of this report
contains forward-looking statements.
In addition to other material factors, expectations and assumptions which may be identified in this MD&A and other
continuous disclosure documents of the Corporation referenced herein, assumptions have been made in respect of such
forward-looking statements and information regarding, among other things: the Corporation will continue to conduct its
operations in a manner consistent with past operations; the general continuance of current industry conditions; anticipated
financial performance, business prospects, impact of competition, strategies, the general stability of the economic and
political environment in which the Corporation operates; exchange and interest rates; the continuance of existing (and in
certain circumstances, the implementation of proposed) tax, royalty and regulatory regimes; the sufficiency of budgeted
capital expenditures in carrying out planned activities; the availability and cost of labour and services and the adequacy of
cash flow; debt and ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms to fund its planned expenditures, which are subject to
change based on commodity prices; market conditions and future oil and natural gas prices; and potential timing delays.
Although Management considers these material factors, expectations, and assumptions to be reasonable based on
information currently available to it, no assurance can be given that they will prove to be correct.
Readers are cautioned that the foregoing lists of factors are not exhaustive. Additional information on these and other factors
that could affect the Corporation's operations and financial results are included in reports on file with the Canadian Securities
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Regulatory Authorities and may be accessed through the SEDAR website (www.sedar.com) or at the Corporation's website.
The forward-looking statements and information contained in this MD&A are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement.
The Corporation does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements or
information, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required by applicable
securities laws.

About PHX Energy Services Corp.
The Corporation, through its directional drilling subsidiary entities, provides horizontal and directional drilling technology and
services to oil and natural gas producing companies in Canada, the US, Russia and Albania. PHX Energy also provides
electronic drilling recorder (“EDR”) technology and services.
PHX Energy’s Canadian directional drilling operations are conducted through Phoenix Technology Services LP. The
Corporation maintains its corporate head office, research and development, Canadian sales, service and operational centres
in Calgary, Alberta. In addition, PHX Energy has a facility in Estevan, Saskatchewan. PHX Energy’s US operations, conducted
through the Corporation’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Phoenix Technology Services USA Inc. (“Phoenix USA”), is headquartered
in Houston, Texas. Phoenix USA has sales and service facilities in Houston, Texas; Denver, Colorado; Casper, Wyoming;
Midland, Texas; Bellaire, Ohio; and Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. Internationally, PHX Energy has sales offices and service
facilities in Albania and Russia, and administrative offices in Nicosia, Cyprus; Dublin, Ireland; and Luxembourg City,
Luxembourg.
PHX Energy markets its EDR technology and services in Canada through its division, Stream Services (“Stream”), which has
an office and operations center in Calgary, Alberta. In the US, EDR technology and services are marketed under the US entity,
Stream EDR Services. EDR technology is marketed worldwide, outside Canada and the US, through Stream’s wholly-owned
subsidiary Stream Services International Inc.
As at December 31, 2017, PHX Energy had 668 full-time employees and the Corporation utilized over 150 additional field
consultants in 2017.
The common shares of PHX Energy trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol PHX.

-3-

PHX Energy Services Corp. | 2017 Annual Report

Financial Highlights
(Stated in thousands of dollars except per share amounts, percentages and shares outstanding)
Three-month periods ended December 31,
Operating Results

2017

2016

Years ended December 31,

% Change

2017

2016

% Change

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

Revenue

60,660

46,629

30

241,001

148,401

62

Net income (loss)

(5,126)

(15,074)

(66)

(23,528)

(46,517)

(49)

Earnings (loss) per share – diluted

(0.09)

(0.30)

(70)

(0.41)

(1.01)

(59)

Adjusted EBITDA

5,440

3,182

71

22,683

5,048

n.m.

0.09

0.06

50

0.39

0.11

n.m.

(1)

Adjusted EBITDA per share – diluted
Adjusted EBITDA (1) as a percentage of
revenue
(1)

9%

7%

9%

3%

Cash Flow
Cash flows from operating activities

10,135

359

n.m.

225

2,490

2,060

21

15,023

559

n.m.

0.04

0.04

-

0.26

0.01

n.m.

Dividends paid

-

-

-

-

416

(100)

Dividends per share (2)

-

-

-

-

0.01

(100)

8,276

2,555

n.m.

25,673

7,811

n.m.

49,787

44,230

13

14,000

29,014

(52)

181,538

178,387

2

58,397,887 50,810,721

15

Funds from operations

(1)

Funds from operations per share – diluted (1)

Capital expenditures

5,091

(96)

Financial Position, December 31,
Working capital
Long-term debt
Shareholders’ equity
Common shares outstanding
Refer to non-GAAP measures section that follows the Outlook section
(2) Dividends paid by the Corporation on a per share basis in the period.
n.m. – not meaningful
(1)
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Non-GAAP Measures
PHX Energy uses certain performance measures throughout this MD&A that are not recognizable under Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). These performance measures include adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”), adjusted EBITDA per share, funds from operations, funds from operations per
share and working capital. Management believes that these measures provide supplemental financial information that is
useful in the evaluation of the Corporation’s operations and are commonly used by other oil and natural gas service
companies. Investors should be cautioned, however, that these measures should not be construed as alternatives to
measures determined in accordance with GAAP as an indicator of PHX Energy’s performance. The Corporation’s method of
calculating these measures may differ from that of other organizations, and accordingly, these may not be comparable.
Please refer to the non-GAAP measures section following the Outlook section for applicable definitions and reconciliations.

Overall Performance
In light of improved industry conditions, PHX Energy successfully increased its activity levels in Canada and the US while
maintaining its disciplined approach to costs, and as a result, experienced significant growth and improved profitability in
2017 as compared to 2016.
The Corporation generated $241 million of consolidated revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017, 62 percent higher
than the $148.4 million generated in the 2016-year. This increase in revenue was primarily the result of higher activity levels
as consolidated operating days grew by 51 percent from 15,536 days in the 2016-year to 23,504 days in 2017-year. In the
fourth quarter of 2017, PHX Energy generated $60.7 million of consolidated revenue, which is 30 percent higher than the
$46.6 million realized in the 2016-quarter. This level of fourth quarter revenue was the highest since 2014 and was achieved
despite delays in the delivery of Velocity Real-Time Systems (“Velocity”) and performance drilling motors, which are now
expected to arrive in early 2018.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, PHX Energy realized adjusted EBITDA of $22.7 million (9 percent of revenue),
which is more than four times higher than the $5.0 million (3 percent of revenue) reported for the 2016-year. In the 2017
three-month period ended December 31, 2017, adjusted EBITDA increased to $5.4 million (9 percent of revenue) from $3.2
million (7 percent of revenue) in the comparable 2016-quarter.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, PHX Energy reported a net loss of $23.5 million, which is a 49 percent improvement
compared to losses of $46.5 million incurred in the 2016-year. The 2017 net loss includes a pre-tax, cash-settled sharebased payment expense of $1.3 million (2016 - $4.1 million), provisions for inventory of $1.1 million (2016 - $3.2 million), a
-5-
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provision for onerous contracts of $0.4 million revenue (2016 - $2.3 million expense), severance costs of $0.8 million (2016 $2.1 million) and an equity-settled share-based payment expense of $2.6 million (2016 - $1.5 million).
As at December 31, 2017, PHX Energy had long-term debt of $14.0 million and working capital of $49.8 million.

Capital Spending
For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Corporation increased capital spending to $25.7 million as compared the $7.8
million spent in 2016-year. The Corporation’s capital expenditures in 2017 were primarily focused on Velocity, performance
drilling motors, and EDR equipment. As at December 31, 2017, $5.4 million of equipment was on order and is expected to be
received within the first half of 2018. These commitments include $4.3 million in Velocity systems, $0.9 million in
measurement while drilling (“MWD”) spare components, and $0.2 million in rotors and collars.
PHX Energy anticipates that $10.5 million in capital expenditures will be spent in the 2018-year. The 2018 program is mainly
allocated toward the Velocity and 7.25” Atlas high performance drilling motor fleets as these technologies are in high demand
and offer significant advantages in key basins across North America. The majority of Velocity systems are deployed to the
Permian basin where this technology excels and offers a higher level of performance over conventional MWD technology.

Normal Course Issuer Bid
The TSX approved PHX Energy’s Normal Course Issuer Bid (“NCIB”) to purchase for cancellation, from time-to-time, up to a
maximum of 2,929,494 common shares of the Corporation. Purchases of common shares will be made on the open market
through the facilities of the TSX and through alternative trading systems. The price which PHX Energy will pay for any
common shares purchased will be at the prevailing market price on the TSX or alternate trading systems at the time of such
purchase. The NCIB commenced on June 26, 2017 and will terminate on June 25, 2018 or such earlier time as the NCIB is
completed or terminated at the option of the Corporation. Pursuant to the NCIB, 192,000 shares were purchased and
cancelled by the Corporation during 2017. PHX Energy intends to use the NCIB as another tool to enhance total long-term
shareholder returns in conjunction with management’s disciplined capital allocation strategy.

Equity Financings
On February 2, 2017, PHX Energy closed a bought deal short-form prospectus (the “2017 Prospectus”) offering for
aggregate proceeds of $28.8 million. An aggregate of 7,187,500 common shares of the Corporation were issued at a price of
$4.00 per common share. Concurrent with the closing of the public offering, certain directors, officers, employees and
consultants of PHX Energy purchased a total of 500,000 common shares at a price of $4.00 per share on a private
placement basis. The gross proceeds from the public offering and concurrent private placement totaled to approximately
$30.8 million.
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The proceeds from the equity financing were initially used to reduce the outstanding loans and borrowings under the
Corporation’s credit facility, thereby freeing up borrowing capacity which was redrawn as required to fund the Corporation’s
ongoing capital expenditure program.

Key Drivers of the Corporation’s Business
PHX Energy considers the following to be the key drivers of its business:


World demand for natural gas and oil commodities directly affect oil and natural gas prices. These in turn have
a direct impact on the Corporation’s customers’ level of cash flows and their ability to fund capital drilling
programs with the use of debt or equity financing, ultimately impacting PHX Energy’s activity levels.



New drilling technologies must be continually developed for the Corporation to further expand and meet the
ongoing demands from its customers, oil and natural gas producing companies, for greater operating
efficiencies.



Superior customer service and satisfaction must be delivered and achieved consistently in order to retain
business.



The Corporation must attract, train and retain key personnel in order to ensure future growth.

Key Performance Measures
There are several performance measures that are used by the Corporation to assess its performance relative to its strategies
and goals, the most significant of which are:


Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue; and



gross profit margin.

Industry Activity and Statistics
In 2017, the industry showed a modest recovery from the prior year, with commodity prices and rig counts improving.

Commodity Price Trends
The price of crude oil fluctuated between $42 and $54 through the first three quarters, with an average price of approximately
$51 for the year (2016 - $43). In the fourth quarter crude oil started to show signs of a rebound and has climbed to the $60
range in the first few months of 2018 (Source: US Energy Information Administration, Cushing, OK WTI Spot Price FOB
(Dollars per Barrel), Release Date 1-29-2018).
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Natural gas did not show the same rebound as crude oil prices exiting 2017, and through the year remained generally weak
despite improving over the prices seen in the first half of 2016 and 2015-year. The average price of NYMEX was $2.99 in
2017 (2016 – $2.52), and with these generally weaker prices holding steady, drilling activity towards natural gas has
declined. Entering 2018, the oil and natural gas prices were on divergent paths with oil showing further gains and natural gas
now trending toward the levels seen in June 2016 (Source: US Energy Information Administration, Cushing, OK WTI Spot
Price FOB (Dollars per Barrel), Release Date 1-29-2018; Peters & Co. Limited, Oilfield Services Update, Q417 Preview 02-0118; and Scotia Capital Inc, Scotia Daily Energy Insights, 2-12-2018).

Natural Gas NYMEX (US$/mmbtu)

WTI Crude Oil (US$/bbl)

9

120

8

100

7

6

80

5

60

4

40

3
2

20

1

0
2012

0
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

Source: US Energy Information Administration, Henry Hub Natural Gas Spot Price (Dollars per Million Btu), Release Date -29-2018
US Energy Information Administration, Cushing, OK WTI Spot Price FOB (Dollars per Barrel), Release Date 1-29-2018

North American Rig Counts
The volume of active rigs in North America increased 70 percent in 2017 as compared to 2016 and producers’ capital
spending programs were also higher in 2017 (Source: Baker Hughes, North American Rotary Rig Count, 01-12-18). Despite
the gains in 2017, the year did remain characterized by the downturn environment that has persisted over the last several
years and as such the oil and gas services sector continued to face challenges, such as day rate pressures (Source: Peters
& Co. Limited, Oilfield Services Update, 01-10-18 and Baker Hughes, North American Rotary Rig Count, 01-12-18).
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WCSB Active Drilling Rig Count
Source: Baker Hughes, North American Rotary Rig Count, 01-12-18
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Canadian Industry
Activity levels in Canada increased significantly in 2017, with 7,122 wells drilled as compared to 4,106 wells in 2016. As in
the past three years, a significant portion of wells drilled were horizontal wells (2017 – 92 percent of drilling days and 2016 –
91 percent of drilling days) and combined, horizontal and directional wells represented 97 percent of the total 2017 industry
drilling days. Oil well drilling represented 53 percent of the Canadian industry’s average active rig count in 2017 as compared
to 48 percent in 2016 (Source: Daily Oil Bulletin, hz-dir days 171231, 01-10-2018 and Baker Hughes, North American Rotary
Rig Count, 01-12-18).
Canadian producers’ conventional capital spending increased approximately 58 percent year-over-year in 2017 after two
consecutive years of declines according to Peters & Co. Limited., and they forecast that 2018 conventional capital spending
will remain relatively flat year-over-year (Source: Peters & Co. Limited, Oilfield Services Update, 01-10-18).

Wells Drilled by Profile
Source: Daily Oil Bulletin, hz-dir days 171231, 01-10-2018
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US Industry
As in Canada, the volume of US drilling activity increased 72 percent in 2017, with the average number of active rigs climbing
from 509 rigs in 2016 to 876 rigs. The Permian basin continued to be the largest area of activity in the US, representing 40
percent of the average active rigs in 2017 (2016 - 36 percent), and the Permian, Eagleford and SCOOP/STACK combined
represented 60 percent of the US land rigs operating in 2017. Oil well drilling continued to dominate in the US, representing
80 percent of the average rig count in 2017 (2016 - 80 percent) and the trend toward horizontal drilling continued to
strengthen, representing 84 percent of active rigs (Source: Peters & Co. Limited, Oilfield Services Update, 01-10-18 and Baker
Hughes, North American Rotary Rig Count, 01-12-18).
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Capital spending in 2017 by key US producers is estimated by Peters & Co. Limited to be 55 percent greater than in 2016
and they also forecast a slight increase in 2018 (Source: Peters & Co. Limited, Oilfield Services Update, 01-10-18).

US Total Rig Count and Permian Basin Rig Count
Source: Baker Hughes, North American Rotary Rig Count, 01-12-2018
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Results of Operations
Three-Month Period and Year Ended December 31, 2017

Revenue
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Three-month periods ended December 31,
Revenue

Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

% Change

2017

2016

% Change

60,660

46,629

30

241,001

148,401

62

For the three-month period ended December 31, 2017, consolidated revenue increased 30 percent to $60.7 million from
$46.6 million in the 2016-quarter. The increase in revenue in the fourth quarter of 2017, as compared to 2016, was due to
higher average day rates and drilling activity in Canada and the US. For the three-month period ended December 31, 2017,
the average consolidated day rate, excluding the US motor rental and the Stream division, was $10,299, which is 16 percent
higher than the 2016-quarter’s average day rate of $8,874. Consolidated operating days increased 13 percent quarter-overquarter, growing from 5,074 days in the 2016-quarter to 5,748 days in the 2017-quarter.
Overall North American rig counts in the fourth quarter of 2017 continued to show significant growth over the prior year’s
quarter, improving 46 percent. This was led by strong gains in the US where the rig count increased 56 percent as compared
to the fourth quarter of 2016; whereas in Canada the number of active rigs in 2017 was 13 percent greater quarter-overquarter. Horizontal and directional drilling continues to dominate the market representing 97 percent of the Canadian
industry’s operating days (2016 - 96 percent) and 93 percent of the US rigs running per day (2016 - 89 percent) (Source:
Daily Oil Bulletin and Baker Hughes).
For the year ended December 31, 2017, PHX Energy’s consolidated revenue increased to $241 million, a 62 percent
increase from the $148.4 million generated in the 2016-year. US and international revenue, as a percentage of total
consolidated revenue, was 57 percent (2016 – 53 percent) and 8 percent (2016 – 11 percent), respectively. The increase in
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017, as compared to 2016, was primarily due to higher drilling activity as
consolidated operating days grew 51 percent to 23,504 days in 2017 from 15,536 days in 2016. Excluding the US motor
rental and Stream divisions, the average consolidated day rate for the 2017-year increased by 8 percent to $9,981 from
$9,277 in 2016-year. The improvement in the average consolidated day rate in the 2017-year was negatively affected by the
weakening of the US dollar year-over-year.
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Operating Costs and Expenses
(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentages)
Three-month periods ended December 31,
Direct costs
Gross profit (loss) as a percentage of revenue
Depreciation & amortization
(included in direct costs)
Gross profit as percentage of revenue
excluding depreciation & amortization

Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

% Change

2017

2016

% Change

58,111

49,590

17

235,687

172,495

37

4%
10,187

(6%)
10,886

21%

17%

2%
(6)

41,621
19%

(16%)
49,752

(16)

17%

Direct costs are comprised of field and shop expenses, and include depreciation and amortization of the Corporation’s
equipment. For the quarter and year ended December 31, 2017, direct costs increased to $58.1 million and $235.7 million,
respectively, from $49.6 million and $172.5 million in the comparable 2016-periods. The greater direct costs in both 2017periods were primarily related to higher activity levels, which in turn increased field labour, equipment repairs, MWD battery
and third party rental costs.
For the quarter and year ended December 31, 2017, the gross profit as a percentage of revenue rose to 4 percent and 2
percent, respectively, an improvement over the gross loss as a percentage of revenue of 6 percent and 16 percent in the
comparable 2016-periods. Excluding depreciation and amortization, gross profit as a percentage of revenue improved to 21
percent and 19 percent for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2017, up from 17 percent in both respective 2016periods. The overall improved market and industry environment in 2017 helped produce greater volumes of drilling activity
and a day rate recovery for the Corporation. These factors together with a disciplined approach to spending, mainly
contributed to the generation of positive gross margins and higher profitability in both 2017-periods.
The reduction in the depreciation and amortization expense for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily
the result of PHX Energy’s lower levels of capital spending relative to the years before the industry downturn and more
assets being fully depreciated.
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(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentages)
Three-month periods ended December 31,
Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) costs

Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

% Change

2017

2016

% Change

9,717

9,914

(2)

32,461

31,628

3

Equity-settled share-based payments
(included in SG&A costs)

381

165

n.m

2,600

1,542

69

Cash-settled share-based payments (recoveries)
(included in SG&A costs)

540

1,585

(66)

1,315

4,094

(68)

Onerous contract rent expense (included in SG&A
costs)

(165)

2,300

n.m

2,300

n.m

SG&A costs excluding share- based payments
and onerous expenses as a percentage of revenue

15%

13%

(437)
12%

16%

n.m. – not meaningful

SG&A costs for the three-month period ended December 31, 2017 decreased by 2 percent to $9.7 million from $9.9 million in
the comparable 2016-period mainly as a result of lower cash-settled share-based payments and the decreased provision for
onerous contracts. Excluding the impact of equity and cash-settled share-based payments and the provision for onerous
contracts, SG&A costs as a percentage of consolidated revenue for the 2017-quarter increased to 15 percent compared to
13 percent in the comparable 2016-quarter primarily due to greater personnel related costs in the 2017-quarter.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, SG&A costs marginally increased to $32.5 million compared to $31.6 million in the
2016-year despite the 51 percent increase in activity year-over-year. SG&A costs as a percentage of consolidated revenue,
excluding the impact of equity and cash-settled share-based payments and the provision for onerous contracts, improved to
12 percent from 16 percent in the 2016-year. These positive results were mainly attributable to the increased volume of
drilling activity, the stabilization of day rates, and effective cost control measures implemented since the onset of the
downturn.
Equity-settled share-based payments relate to the amortization of the fair values of issued options of the Corporation using
the Black-Scholes model. For the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2017, equity-settled share-based
payments increased to $0.4 million and $2.6 million, respectively, compared to $0.2 million and $1.5 million in the
comparable 2016-periods. The increase in the equity-settled compensation expense for both 2017-periods was primarily the
result of higher fair values on options granted in the first quarter of 2017 as compared to 2016 and new options granted in
the third quarter of 2017.
Cash-settled share-based retention awards, which are included in SG&A costs, are measured at fair value. In the quarter and
year ended December 31, 2017, cash-settled share-based payments decreased by 66 percent and 68 percent, respectively,
over the corresponding 2016-periods. The decrease in the compensation expense in 2017 was mainly driven by fluctuations
in the Corporation’s share price in both periods.
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(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Three-month periods ended December 31,
Research and development expense

Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

% Change

2017

2016

% Change

805

669

20

2,463

2,001

23

Research and development (“R&D”) expenditures during the quarter and year ended December 31, 2017 were $0.8 million
(2016 - $0.7 million) and $2.5 million (2016 - $2.0 million), respectively. In 2017, the Corporation received a scientific
research and experimental development (“SR&ED”) credit, which reduced the R&D expense by $0.4 million (2016 - $0.3
million).
Excluding the impact of SR&ED credits, R&D expenditures were higher in both 2017-periods resulting primarily from the
addition of R&D personnel, who were required to support the development of new technology and other initiatives to further
enhance and expand PHX Energy’s services.
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Three-month periods ended December 31,
Finance expense

Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

% Change

2017

2016

% Change

516

502

3

2,011

1,952

3

Finance expenses relate to interest charges on the Corporation’s long-term and short-term bank facilities. For the quarter
and year ended December 31, 2017, the finance expense increased over the comparable 2016-periods. The increase in
finance charges in both 2017-periods was primarily due to higher rates on borrowings, additional financing charges from the
amendments to the credit facility completed in the fourth quarters of 2016 and 2017, and accretion charges associated with
the Corporation’s provision for onerous contracts.
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Three-month periods ended December 31,

Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

2017

2016

(2,273)

602

(6,061)

(115)

Foreign exchange (gain) loss

(126)

137

246

(30)

Provision for bad debts

103

173

479

369

Other (income) expense

(2,296)

912

(5,336)

224

Net (gain) loss on disposition of drilling equipment

For the quarter and year ended December 31, 2017, the Corporation realized other income of $2.3 million (2016 – expense
of $0.9 million) and $5.3 million (2016 – expense of $0.2 million), respectively, which was mainly the result of gains on the
disposition of drilling equipment. Gains typically result from insurance programs undertaken whereby proceeds for the lost
equipment are at current replacement values, which are higher than the respective equipment's book value. Losses typically
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result from any asset retirements that were made before the end of the equipment's useful life and self-insured downhole
equipment losses. In the 2017-periods, the gain on disposition of drilling equipment resulted primarily from the higher
occurrence of insured lost equipment that was driven by increased drilling activity.
For the quarter and year ended December 31, 2017, the Corporation incurred a foreign exchange gain of $0.1 million (2016 loss of $0.1 million) and loss of $0.2 million (2016 - nil), respectively. Changes in foreign exchange gains and losses result
mainly from the settlement and the revaluation of Canadian-denominated intercompany payables in the US.
During the quarter and year ended December 31, 2017, the Corporation recognized provisions for bad debts of $0.1 million
(2016 - $0.2 million) and $0.5 million (2016 - $0.4 million), respectively. The provisions for bad debt in the 2017-year relate
primarily to accounts receivable in the Corporation’s US segment.
(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentages)
Three-month periods ended December 31,
Provision for (Recovery of) income taxes
Effective tax rates

Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

2017

(1,066)

116

(2,757)

17%

(1%)

10%

2016
(13,383)
22%

For the three-month period ended December 31, 2017, the Corporation recognized a recovery of income taxes of $1.1 million
(2016 – $0.1 million provision) primarily from tax losses in the Corporation’s Canadian entities. For the year ended December
31, 2017, a recovery of $2.8 million was recorded as compared to $13.4 million in the 2016-year. The expected combined
Canadian federal and provincial tax rate for 2017 is 27 percent. The effective tax rates for the three-month period and year
ended December 31, 2017 were lower than the expected rate mainly as a result of the effect of tax rates in foreign
jurisdictions.
(Stated in thousands of dollars except per share amounts and percentages)
Three-month periods ended December 31,
2017

2016

(5,126)

(15,074)

(66)

(23,528)

(46,517)

(49)

Earnings (loss) per share – diluted

(0.09)

(0.30)

(70)

(0.41)

(1.01)

(59)

Adjusted EBITDA

5,440

3,182

71

22,683

5,048

n.m.

0.09

0.06

50

0.39

0.11

n.m.

Net earnings (loss)

Adjusted EBITDA per share – diluted
Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue

9%

% Change

Years ended December 31,

7%

2017

9%

2016

% Change

3%

n.m. – not meaningful

As a result of improved drilling activity and higher average day rates, the Corporation realized reduced net losses in the 2017
fourth quarter and year. Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue for both the three-month period and year ended
December 31, 2017 was 9 percent (2016 - 7 percent and 3 percent, respectively).
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Segmented Information
The Corporation reports three operating segments on a geographical basis throughout the Canadian provinces of Alberta,
Saskatchewan, British Columbia, and Manitoba; throughout the Gulf Coast, Northeast and Rocky Mountain regions of the
US; and internationally, mainly in Albania and Russia.

Canada
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Three-month periods ended December 31,
Revenue
Reportable segment profit (loss) before tax

2017

2016

19,782

19,581

680

(4,004)

Years ended December 31,

% Change

2017

1

84,405

53,996

56

(5,162)

(18,526)

(72)

n.m.

2016

% Change

n.m. - not meaningful

For the three-month period ended December 31, 2017, PHX Energy’s Canadian division generated $19.8 million in revenue,
flat when compared to the $19.6 million generated in the comparable 2016-quarter. The segment’s average day rate
increased 12 percent from $7,064 in the 2016-quarter to $7,912 in 2017, excluding Stream revenue of $0.9 million (2016 $1.0 million). The recovery in the average day rate was offset by a 9 percent decrease in operating days. In the 2017quarter, 2,384 days were recorded as compared to 2,632 days in 2016-quarter. In comparison, the number of horizontal and
directional drilling days in the industry increased by 26 percent quarter-over-quarter from 13,564 days in the 2016-quarter to
17,077 days in the 2017-quarter (Source: Daily Oil Bulletin). The decrease in PHX Energy’s Canadian activity in the fourth
quarter of 2017 was mainly due to a lower volume of activity generated by a few larger customers relative to market activity.
During the fourth quarter 2017, oil drilling, as measured by drilling days, represented approximately 78 percent of PHX
Energy’s Canadian activity and the Corporation remained active in the Montney, Wilrich, Bakken, Shaunavon, Duvernay,
Cardium and Viking areas.
PHX Energy’s Canadian revenue for year ended December 31, 2017, increased by 56 percent to $84.4 million from $54.0
million in the 2016-year. The Canadian segment recorded 10,882 operating days in 2017, a 56 percent increase over the
6,997 days in 2016. In comparison, for the year ended December 31, 2017, there were 67,784 horizontal and directional
drilling days realized in the Canadian industry, which is 80 percent higher than the 37,634 days realized in 2016 (Sources:
Daily Oil Bulletin). The average day rate, excluding Stream revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $7,395, flat
when compared to the prior year (2016 - $7,425).
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Reportable segment profit before tax for the three-month period and loss before tax for the year ended December 31, 2017
was $0.7 million (2016 - $4.0 million loss) and $5.2 million (2016 - $18.5 million), respectively. Improved profitability in both
2017-periods was primarily due to the increased volume of activity. The Canadian segment’s profitability in both comparative
2016-periods were negatively affected by provisions for inventory and a provision for an onerous lease contract.

Stream Services
Included in the Canadian segment’s revenue for the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2017 were Stream
revenues of $0.9 million (2016 - $1.0 million) and $3.9 million (2016 - $2.0 million), respectively. For the three-month period
ended December 31, 2017, the division realized a 4 percent increase in activity to 1,247 operating days from 1,199 days in
the comparable 2016-quarter. The positive impact of higher activity was offset by an 11 percent decrease in the average day
rate which was mainly the result of Stream providing a greater proportion of low-rate services during the quarter. For the year
ended December 31, 2017, the division recorded 5,178 operating days, an 81 percent increase compared to 2,855 days
generated in the 2016-year, and realized a 6 percent improvement in the average day rate from $717 in 2016 to $761 in the
2017-year.
For the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2017, the Stream division incurred reportable losses before tax of
$1.4 million (2016 - $1.6 million) and $4.3 million (2016 - $6.6 million), respectively. Included in the Stream division’s losses
in both 2017-periods were depreciation and amortization expenses $0.6 million and $2.4 million, respectively. Reduced
losses in both 2017-periods were reflective of greater volumes of activity and fewer expenses related to the expansion of the
division.

United States
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Three-month periods ended December 31,

Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

% Change

2017

2016

% Change

Revenue

36,264

21,721

67

137,625

78,593

75

Reportable segment loss before tax

(5,460)

(8,436)

(35)

(14,928)

(31,151)

(52)

For the three-month period ended December 31, 2017, the US segment realized revenue of $36.3 million, an increase of 67
percent from the $21.7 million generated in the 2016-period. This level of fourth quarter revenue was the highest achieved by
the US segment since 2014. Increased revenue generated in the 2017-quarter was generally produced by greater volumes
of drilling activity and a modest upturn in the average day rate. PHX Energy’s US operating days increased to 2,744 days in
the final quarter of 2017, an improvement of 58 percent over the 1,734 days in the same 2016-quarter. In comparison,
industry activity has grown 63 percent with the number of horizontal and directional rigs running per day climbing to 858 in
the fourth quarter of 2017 from 526 rigs in the comparative 2016-quarter (Source: Baker Hughes). As a result of recovering
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commodity prices, the average day rate, excluding the motor rental division, increased by 7 percent in the 2017-quarter to
$13,022 from $12,175 in the 2016-quarter. The increase in the average day rate was adversely impacted by the weakening
of the US dollar in the 2017 three-month period relative to the comparable period in 2016.
In the fourth quarter of 2017, horizontal and directional drilling continued to represent a large majority of the industry rig
count, averaging 93 percent of the rigs running on a daily basis. Oil well drilling, as measured by wells drilled and excluding
the motor rental and gyro surveying divisions, increased to 92 percent of PHX Energy’s US activity in the 2017-quarter, as a
large portion of the industry’s drilling activity remained concentrated in Texas, specifically the Permian basin. During the third
quarter of 2017, Phoenix USA remained active in the Permian, Mississippian/Woodford, Marcellus, Utica, Niobrara and
Bakken basins.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, US revenue grew from $78.6 million in 2016 to $137.6 million, an increase of 75
percent. The Corporation’s US operating days increased by 67 percent to 10,106 days from 6,055 days in 2016. In
comparison, US industry activity, as measured by the average number of horizontal and directional rigs running on a daily
basis, grew by 80 percent to 807 rigs in 2017 compared from 449 rigs in 2016 (Source: Baker Hughes). Excluding the motor
rental division, Phoenix USA’s average day rate increased by 6 percent in the 2017-year to $13,373 from $12,613 in 2016.
Reportable segment loss before tax for the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2017 was $5.5 million (2016 $8.4 million) and $14.9 million (2016 - $31.2 million), respectively. The significant reduction in losses was primarily the result
of increased drilling activity and day rates.

International
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Three-month periods ended December 31,
Revenue
Reportable segment profit (loss) before tax

Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

% Change

2017

2016

% Change

4,614

5,327

(13)

18,971

15,812

20

1,011

n.m.

(174)

(959)

(455)

n.m.

n.m. - not meaningful

For the three-month period ended December 31, 2017, the Corporation’s international segment generated revenue of $4.6
million, a decrease of 13 percent from the $5.3 million earned in the comparable 2016-quarter. The decrease in revenue was
primarily caused by lower activity as international operating days, excluding the MWD rental activity, decreased by 13
percent to 620 days in the fourth quarter of 2017 from 709 days in the 2016-period. The decrease in activity was due to
Albania being idle during the 2017-quarter while active in the comparable 2016-period.
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For the year ended December 31, 2017, international revenue grew by 20 percent to $19.0 million from $15.8 million in the
comparable 2016-period. The increase in revenue was largely from the continued expansion of the Russian MWD rental
activity and more activity in Albania in the 2017-year relative to 2016. The Russian ruble also strengthened year-over-year
and this aided the improvement of the average day rate, which increased by 18 percent to $7,537 in 2017 from $6,363 in
2016. International operating days were relatively flat at 2,517 days in the 2017-year, as compared to 2,485 days in 2016.
During 2017, the Russian operation continued to grow its presence in Eastern Siberia and was successful in its efforts to
diversify the business. A focus was also placed on the highly profitable MWD rental business. A satellite MWD repair facility
was established in Eastern Siberia which will help reduce transportation costs and enhance service delivery capabilities.
For the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2017, the international segment reported losses before tax of $0.2
million and $1.0 million, respectively, compared to a profit of $1.0 million and a loss of $0.5 million in the comparable 2016periods. Losses in the 2017-quarter were mainly due to inactivity in Albania. Profitability in both 2017-periods was negatively
affected by provisions for inventory.

Liquidity
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Three-month periods ended December 31,
Funds from operations

Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

2017

2016

2,490

2,060

15,023

559

Dec. 31, ‘17

Dec. 31, ‘16

49,787

44,230

Working capital

For the quarter and year ended December 31, 2017, funds from operations were $2.5 million and $15.0 million, respectively,
as compared to $2.1 million and $0.6 million in the comparable 2016-periods. For both 2017-periods, the increase in funds
from operations was primarily due to improved margins.
As at December 31, 2017, the Corporation had working capital of $49.8 million, an increase of $5.6 million from the $44.2
million reported at December 31, 2016. The increased working capital at December 31, 2017 was mainly due to higher trade
and other receivables that resulted from the revenue growth realized in 2017.
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Cash Flow and Dividends
On February 24, 2016, the Corporation suspended its quarterly dividend to preserve cash, protect the health of its balance
sheet and to ensure the Corporation had maximum financial flexibility during the continued period of low commodity prices.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, dividends of $0.4 million were paid. No dividends were paid in 2017. The Board will
continue to reassess the Corporation's dividend policy from time to time in light of industry conditions, financial performance,
forecasted activity levels and the industry outlook.

Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $16.4 million (2016 - $5.1 million). During
2017, the Corporation acquired $25.7 million of drilling and other equipment (2016 - $7.8 million) and received proceeds of
$11.6 million from the disposition of drilling equipment, primarily related to involuntary disposal of drilling equipment in well
bores (2016 - $4.5 million). The 2017 expenditures included:
 $16.3 million in MWD systems and spare components;
 $5.2 million in downhole performance drilling motors;
 $2.9 million in EDR equipment and spare components; and
 $1.3 million in other assets including computers, vehicles, and machinery and equipment.
The capital expenditure program undertaken in the period was financed generally from funds from operations and
drawdowns on credit facilities.
In reference to the 2017 Prospectus, the anticipated expenditures as detailed in the “Use of Proceeds” section of the 2017
Prospectus differed from the actual use of proceeds mainly due to changes in customers’ demand for technology and
services. The variance in the expenditures aided the Corporation in achieving increased activity levels in 2017. Variances
were as follows:
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Anticipated Use of Proceeds per 2017 Prospectus

Actual Use of Proceeds in 2017

Variance

10,500

13,514

(3,014)

6,475

2,855

3,620

4,000

5,229

(1,229)

2,000

1,377

623

475

475

-

23,450

23,450

-

Velocity Real-Time Systems
Stream Services – EDR systems
Downhole motor fleet addition and
development
Miscellaneous machinery, shop and
downhole equipment
Velocity license
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During the year, the Corporation spent $2.9 million in intangible assets consisting primarily of $1.9 million in payments
related to a license agreement and $0.9 million in development costs.
The change in non-cash working capital balances of $0.6 million (source of cash) for the year ended December 31, 2017,
relates to the net change in the Corporation’s trade payables that are associated with the acquisition of capital assets. This
compares to a $1.9 million (source of cash) for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Capital Expenditures
(In millions of dollars)

$68.3

$49.3

$51.5
$41.8
$25.7
$18.0
$7.8

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

PHX Energy had undertaken significant annual capital asset expansion programs up to 2014 in line with increases in its
activity levels. In 2017, the Corporation continued to preserve cash flows, however, with the modest rebound in commodity
prices and rig counts, capital spending was increased primarily to expand the Corporation’s fleet of Velocity systems,
performance drilling motors, and EDR equipment.
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Financing Activities
The Corporation reported cash from financing activities of $13.3 million in 2017 as compared to $2.0 million of cash used in
2016. In the 2017-year:


a total repayment of $15.4 million was made on the Corporation’s Operating, US Operating and Syndicated
Facilities;



through a bought deal short form prospectus offering and a concurrent private placement, the Corporation
issued 7,687,500 common shares for net proceeds of $29.0 million;



under the Corporation’s NCIB, $0.4 million was spent on repurchase of shares; and



91,666 common shares were issued for proceeds of $0.2 million upon the exercise of share options.

Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2017, the Corporation had $14.0 million drawn on its syndicated facility, $5.6 million drawn on its
Canadian Operating Facility and nil drawn on its US Operating Facility.
On November 30, 2017, the Corporation amended its credit agreement with its syndicate of lenders. The key amendments
included:


The Corporation increased the maximum principal amounts available under the Operating Facility from
CAD$10.0 million to CAD$15.0 million, and the US Operating Facility from USD$1.5 million to US$5.0 million.



The Corporation extended the maturity date of the credit facilities to December 11, 2020.



The Corporation will no longer be subject to a minimum liquidity test.



The Corporation’s net capital expenditures in any fiscal year cannot exceed CAD$30.0 million, net of
proceeds from dispositions, unless the Corporation’s trailing twelve month EBITDA is greater than CAD$30.0
million, and, debt to EBITDA ratio for the most recent quarter end is less than 3.00:1.00, and, the interest
coverage ratio for the most recent quarter end is greater than 3.00:1.00.
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For the periods ending December 31, 2017 and thereafter, the debt to EBITDA ratio shall be calculated on a
rolling four-quarter basis. The following financial statement covenants remain in effect:
Quarter Ending

Debt to Covenant EBITDA Ratio

Interest Coverage Ratio

Dec. 31, 2017

< 4.0x

> 3.0x

Mar. 31, 2018

< 3.5x

> 3.0x

June 30, 2018

< 3.5x

> 3.0x

Quarters ending thereafter

< 3.0x

> 3.0x

As at December 31, 2017, the Corporation was in compliance with all its financial covenants as follows:
Ratio

Covenant

As at December 31, 2017

Debt to covenant EBITDA

<4.0x

1.43

Interest coverage ratio

>3.0x

6.82

<$31.8 million

$28.6 million

Net capital expenditures and intangible asset acquisitions

The Corporation had approximately CAD$43.4 million and USD$5.0 million available to be drawn from its credit facilities as
at December 31, 2017.
The credit facilities are secured by substantially all of the Corporation's assets.

Cash Requirements for Capital Expenditures
Historically, the Corporation has financed its capital expenditures and acquisitions through cash flows from operating
activities, debt and equity. The 2018 capital budget has been set at $10.5 million subject to quarterly review of the Board of
Directors. These planned expenditures are expected to be financed primarily by funds from operations. However, if a
sustained period of market and commodity price uncertainty and financial market volatility persists in 2018, the Corporation's
activity levels, cash flows and access to credit may be negatively impacted, the proceeds from borrowing may be required to
fund operations, and the expenditure level would be reduced accordingly. Conversely, if future growth opportunities present
themselves, the Corporation would look at expanding this planned capital expenditure amount.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Corporation had no off-balance sheet arrangements as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, other than operating leases.
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Proposed Transactions
The Corporation reviews and evaluates any material business acquisitions or capital asset divestitures in the normal course
of its operations. In 2018, the Corporation has budgeted to spend $10.5 million in capital expenditures.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation are prepared in accordance with IFRS. The Corporation’s
significant accounting policies are described in its annual audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2017. In preparing these financial statements, Management is required to make estimates and judgments that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. These estimates and judgments are based upon
assumptions that are considered reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from such estimates and
judgments by a material amount.
Assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next
financial year include the following:


estimated useful lives of drilling and other equipment and intangible assets,



key assumptions used in the valuation of drilling and other equipment, goodwill and intangible assets not yet in
use,



recognition of deferred tax assets based on estimates of the availability of future taxable profit against which carryforward tax losses can be used,



key assumptions used in the valuation of inventory, and



valuation of accounts receivable.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the
consolidated financial statements are:


determination of cash generating units,



assessment of whether impairment indicators exist and impairment testing is required, and



assessment of deferred income taxes as the Corporation operates in foreign jurisdictions where regulations are
complex and different from Canada.
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Future Changes in Accounting Policies
Certain new standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to existing standards are effective for accounting
periods beginning on after January 1, 2018. These standards have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial
statements. Those which may be relevant to the Corporation are set out below.

a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes
revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, including a new expected credit loss
model for calculating impairment on financial assets, new treatment for modification or exchange of financial liabilities,
and the new general hedge accounting requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and
derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Corporation intends to adopt IFRS 9 for the annual period
beginning on January 1, 2018. The Corporation is finalizing its evaluation of IFRS 9 but does not expect that the
adoption of the standard will have a material effect on the financial statements.

b) IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognized.
It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue. IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Corporation intends to adopt IFRS 15
for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2018. The Corporation is finalizing its review of sales contracts with
customers but does not expect IFRS 15 to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. Upon
adoption, the Corporation will expand its disclosures on the disaggregation of revenue within the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

c) IFRS 16 Leases
In January 2016, the International Accounting Standards Board issued the final version of IFRS 16, Leases. IFRS 16 will
replace the existing leases Standard, IAS 17 Leases, and related Interpretations. The Standard sets out the principles
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract (i.e., the lessee
and the lessor). IFRS 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and
liabilities for all leases with a term of more than twelve months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. Currently,
operating lease expenses are charged to the statement of comprehensive income. The Standard also contains
enhanced disclosure requirements for lessees. IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in IAS 17.
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The effective date for adoption of IFRS 16 is annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, though early
adoption is permitted for companies applying IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The Corporation
intends to adopt IFRS 16 for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2019. The Corporation has commenced
reviewing its various lease and service contracts to determine the impact that the adoption of the standard will have on
its financial statements.

Financial Instruments
Credit Risk
The Corporation is exposed to normal credit risks of its customers that exist within the oil and natural gas exploration and
development industry. The Corporation’s credit risk associated with these customers can be directly impacted by a decline in
economic conditions, which would impair the customers’ ability to satisfy their obligations to the Corporation. During the year
ended December 31, 2017, one customer comprised 8 percent of the total revenue (2016 - 7 percent of revenue). The
customer’s revenue is reported within the US operating segment.
As at December 31, 2017, the ageing of trade and other receivables that were not impaired was as follows:
(Stated in thousands of dollars)

2017

Neither past due nor impaired

$

39,365

Past due 1-30 days

18,664

Past due 31-60 days

5,722

Past due 61-90 days

1,269

Past due over 90 days

1,615
$

66,635

The Corporation’s standard customer payment terms are 30 days after job completion or invoice issuance date, after which,
the balance becomes past due. The Corporation will assess for impairment once the receivable becomes past due. All
accounts receivable balances that are past due for more than 90 days and were not impaired represent 2 percent or
approximately $1.6 million of total receivables on the statement of financial position at December 31, 2017. Management
believes that the unimpaired amounts that are past due are still collectible in full, based on historic payment behavior and
extensive analysis of customer credit risk. Management has provided an allowance of $0.8 million for all amounts it considers
uncollectable at December 31, 2017 (2016 - $0.7 million).
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The Corporation has a credit management program to assist in managing this risk, which consists of conducting financial and
other assessments to establish and monitor a customer’s creditworthiness. The Corporation monitors and manages its credit
risk on an ongoing basis.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Corporation
has financial liabilities, thus, is exposed to liquidity risk. The Corporation’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure
that it always has sufficient cash and credit facilities to meet its obligations when due. Management typically forecasts cash
flows for a period of twelve months to identify financing requirements. These requirements are then addressed through a
combination of demand credit facilities and access to capital markets. The Corporation believes that future cash flows
generated by the operations and access to additional liquidity through capital and banking markets will be adequate to meet
its financial obligations.
The following table reflects the Corporation’s anticipated payment of contractual obligations related to continuing operations
as at December 31, 2017:
(Stated in thousands of dollars)

Loans and borrowings
Drilling and other equipment
purchase commitments
Trade and other payables

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

5,620

-

14,000

-

-

5,381

-

-

-

-

41,630

-

-

-

-

52,631

-

14,000

-

-

Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The Corporation has designated its trade and other payables and dividends payable as other financial liabilities carried at
amortized cost. Accounts receivable are designated as loans and receivables, measured at amortized cost. The
Corporation’s carrying values of these items approximate their fair value due to the relatively short periods to maturity of the
instruments. Loans and borrowings have been designated as an other financial liability, and are measured at amortized cost.
The fair value of loans and borrowings included in the consolidated statement of financial position approximates carrying
values as the indebtedness is subject to floating rates of interest.
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Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is created by fluctuations in the fair values of financial instruments due to changes in the market interest
rates. The Corporation has variable interest long-term debt which exposes it to fluctuations in cash interest payment
amounts.
A one percent change in interest rates would have increased or decreased the Corporation’s profit by $151,762 for the year
ended December 31, 2017.

Foreign Exchange Risk
Foreign exchange risk is created by fluctuations in the fair values of financial instruments due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. Due to operations of the Corporation’s subsidiaries in the US and Russia, the Corporation has an exposure
to foreign currency exchange rates. The carrying values of Canadian dollar, US dollar and Russian ruble (“RUB”)
denominated monetary assets and liabilities and earnings are subject to foreign exchange risk. For the year ended
December 31, 2017, foreign exchange losses of $0.2 million (2016 - nil) resulted mainly from fluctuations in the USD-CAD
exchange rates. The Corporation reviews options with respect to managing its foreign exchange risk periodically.
The following chart represents the Corporation’s exposure to foreign currency risk:

As at December 31, 2017

CAD

USD

RUB

Cash and cash equivalents

-

(22,376)

90,149,327

Trade and other receivables

-

79,230

223,816,391

Trade and other payables

-

Intercompany receivables

6,004,858

-

-

Intercompany payables

(8,460,819)

-

-

Statement of financial position exposure

(2,455,961)

As at December 31, 2016

(2,245,877)

(2,189,023)

(216,501)

313,749,217

CAD

USD

RUB

Cash and cash equivalents

-

685,424

105,028,759

Trade and other receivables

-

30,750

199,254,243

Trade and other payables

-

Intercompany receivables

353,933

-

-

Intercompany payables

(3,936,724)

-

-

Statement of financial position exposure

(3,582,791)
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(1,378,056)

(14,410,928)

289,872,074
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The following significant exchange rates applied during the year ended December 31:
Average Rate
2017

December 31, Close Rate

2016

2017

2016

USD

1.2980

1.3256

1.2545

1.3427

RUB

44.9743

50.5973

45.9258

44.9710

A strengthening of the Canadian dollar, US dollar, and Russian ruble against all other currencies as at December 31 would
have affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency and affected profit or loss by the
amounts shown below. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
Gain (Loss)
CAD (10% strengthening)
USD (10% strengthening)
RUB (10% strengthening)

$

2017
(195,772) $
(274,613)
621,060

2016
(266,835)
(185,032)
585,978

Business Risk Factors
The Corporation’s operations are subject to certain factors that are beyond its control. A significant portion of the
Corporation’s operating costs are variable in nature, and as a result, the impact of a significant decline in demand for the
Corporation’s services on its financial results is lessened. Management has identified herein certain key risks and
uncertainties associated with PHX Energy’s business that could impact financial results. Detailed disclosure of such risk
factors are included in the Corporation’s Annual Information Form. They include, but are not limited to:

Commodity Price Volatility & Current Industry Environment
With the significant drop in the price of crude oil that began in the second half of 2014, the commodity price volatility that
continued through 2015, 2016 and 2017, and decline and continued weakness in the price of natural gas to date, the level of
activity of producers and confidence in the oil and gas industry remain fragile. As a service provider to the energy sector,
PHX Energy will continue to work with its customers during this challenging time and adjust its strategies and expenditures
as required. The full duration and effect of the industry downturn and its impact on the Corporation’s activity and results will
depend on a variety of factors that are difficult to predict and cash flows may be materially adversely affected.

Capital Requirements
The Corporation’s revenues may further decline because of a decrease in activity levels, and it may be required to reduce its
planned capital expenditures. In addition, uncertain levels of near-term industry activity coupled with the uncertain global
economy exposes the Corporation to additional capital risk. There can be no assurance that debt or equity financing, or cash
generated by operations will be available, or sufficient, to meet these capital expenditure requirements or for other corporate
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purposes, or if debt or equity financing is available, that it will be on terms acceptable to the Corporation. The inability of the
Corporation to access sufficient capital for its operations could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Third Party Credit Risk
The Corporation is exposed to normal credit risks of its customers that exist within the oil and natural gas exploration and
development industry. The Corporation’s credit risk associated with these customers can be directly impacted by a sustained
decline in economic conditions, which would impair the customer’s ability to satisfy their obligations to the Corporation.

Environmental Risks
All phases of the oil and natural gas business present environmental risks and hazards and are subject to environmental
regulation pursuant to a variety of federal, provincial and local laws and regulations. Compliance with such legislation can
require significant expenditures and a breach may result in the imposition of fines and penalties, some of which may be
material. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner expected to result in stricter standards and enforcement, larger
fines and liability, and potentially increased capital expenditures and operating costs. Implementation of strategies for
reducing greenhouse gases could have a material impact on the nature of oil and natural gas operations, including those of
the Corporation and the Corporation’s customers. Given the evolving nature of the debate related to climate change and the
control of greenhouse gases and the possible resulting requirements, it is not possible to predict either the nature of those
requirements or the impact on the Corporation and its operations and financial condition.

Climate Change and Carbon Pricing Risk
In Canada, the federal and certain provincial governments have implemented legislation aimed at incentivizing the use of
alternative fuels and in turn reducing carbon emissions. The taxes placed on carbon emissions could have the effect of
decreasing the demand for oil and natural gas products which could have a material impact on the Corporation's customers
and thereby adversely effect the Corporation's profitability and financial condition.

Employees
The success of the Corporation will be dependent upon key personnel. Loss of the services from such persons could have a
material adverse effect on the business and operations of the Corporation. The ability of the Corporation to expand its
services is dependent upon its ability to attract additional qualified employees.

Access to Equipment and Development of New Technology
The ability of the Corporation to compete and expand is dependent upon it having access to certain drilling equipment and
components at a reasonable cost, and upon its ability to develop or acquire new competitive technology. The Corporation
purchases equipment from various suppliers in the oil and natural gas drilling service industry. There can be no assurance
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that these sources for equipment will be maintained. If such equipment is not available, and is not available from any other
source, the Corporation’s ability to compete may be impaired.

Competition
The Corporation’s major competitors are principally large multinational companies with significantly greater resources
available for marketing and R&D programs. The Corporation also competes with a number of other small and medium sized
companies. Like the Corporation, these companies have certain competitive advantages, such as low overhead costs and
specialized regional strengths. The Corporation’s ability to generate revenue depends on its ability to obtain contracts and to
perform services within projected times and costs.

Oil and Natural Gas Industry Risk
There are risks associated with the provision of drilling services to the oil and natural gas industry. The Corporation may
become liable for risks against which it may choose not to insure due to high premium costs, or which may exceed the limits of
policy coverage. Interruptions and delays caused by adverse weather conditions, equipment failures or other events can
significantly adversely affect revenue. While the Corporation will maintain liability insurance, the insurance is subject to
coverage limits. There can be no assurance that insurance will continue to be available to the Corporation on commercially
reasonable terms, that the possible types of liabilities that may be incurred by the Corporation will be covered by its insurance,
or that the dollar amount of such liabilities will not exceed policy limits. Even a partially uninsured claim, if successful and of
sufficient magnitude, could have a material adverse effect on business, results of operations and prospects.

Seasonality
In general, the level of activity of the Canadian and certain parts of the US and international oilfield service industry is
influenced by seasonable weather patterns. Wet weather and the spring thaw may make the ground unstable. Consequently,
municipalities and provincial or state transportation departments enforce road bans that restrict the movement of rigs and
other heavy equipment, thereby reducing activity levels. Additionally, certain oil and natural gas producing areas are located
in areas that are inaccessible, except during winter months, because the ground surrounding or containing the drilling sites in
these areas consists of swampy terrain known as muskeg.

Geopolitical Risks
Political events throughout the world that cause disruptions in the supply of oil continuously affect the marketability and price
of oil and natural gas. Conflicts, or conversely peaceful developments, arising outside of Canada, including changes in
political regimes or the parties in power, have a significant impact on the price of oil and natural gas. Any particular event
could result in a material decline in prices and result in a reduction of the operations of the Corporation's customers and
thereby adversely impact the Corporation's profitability and financial condition. In the last several years, the United States
and certain European countries have experienced significant political events that have cast uncertainty on global financial
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and economic markets. During the recent presidential campaign a number of election promises were made and the new
American administration has begun taking steps to implement certain of these promises. Included in the actions that the
administration has discussed, or in some cases implemented, are the renegotiation of the terms of the North American Free
Trade Agreement, withdrawal of the United States from the Trans-Pacific Partnership, imposition of a tax on the importation
of goods into the United States, reduction of regulation and taxation in the United States, and introduction of laws to reduce
immigration and restrict access into the United States for citizens of certain countries. It is presently unclear exactly what
additional actions the new administration in the United States will implement, and if implemented, how these actions may
impact Canada and in particular the oil and gas industry. Any actions taken by the new United States administration may
have a negative impact on the Canadian economy and on the businesses, financial conditions, results of operations and the
valuation of Canadian oil and gas companies, including the Corporation.
In addition to the political disruption in the United States, the citizens of the United Kingdom recently voted to withdraw from
the European Union and the Government of the United Kingdom has begun taken steps to implement such withdrawal.
Some European countries have also experienced the rise of anti-establishment political parties and public protests held
against open-door immigration policies, trade and globalization. To the extent that certain political actions taken in North
America, Europe and elsewhere in the world result in a marked decrease in free trade, access to personnel and freedom of
movement it could have an adverse effect on the Corporation's ability to market its products internationally, increase costs for
goods and services required for the Corporation's operations, reduce access to skilled labour and negatively impact the
Corporation's business, operations, financial conditions and the market value of its common shares.

Foreign Operations
The Corporation will conduct a certain portion of its business in the US, Albania, and Russia. Any change in government
policies could have a significant impact on business. Risks of foreign operations include, but are not necessarily limited to
changes of laws affecting foreign ownership, government participation, taxation, royalties, duties, rates of exchange, inflation,
exchange control, sanctions, and repatriation of earnings. There are no assurances that the economic and political
conditions in the countries in which the Corporation operates will continue as they are at the present time. The effect and
impact of these factors cannot be accurately predicted.
In addition, the Corporation is subject to the various additional industry condition and risk factors described in the
Corporation’s Annual Information Form, a copy of which can be found under the Corporation’s profile at www.sedar.com.
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Corporate Governance
This MD&A has been prepared by the Management of PHX Energy and it has been reviewed and approved by the Audit
Committee and the Board of Directors of the Corporation. Additional information relating to the Corporation’s Corporate
Governance can be found in the Corporation’s Annual Information Form and Information Circular in respect of its annual
meeting of Shareholders, each of which are annually filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have designed, or caused to be designed under their
supervision, disclosure controls and procedures. Such officers have evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under their
supervision, the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures at the financial year end of the Corporation and have
concluded that the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective, at the financial year end of the
Corporation, to provide reasonable assurance that: (i) material information relating to the Corporation is made known to the
Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer by others, particularly during the period in which the annual
and interim filings are being prepared; and (ii) information required to be disclosed by the Corporation in its annual filings,
interim filings or other reports filed or submitted by it under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time period specified in securities legislation.

Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting
The Corporation's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have designed, or caused to be designed under their
supervision, internal controls over financial reporting related to the Corporation, including its consolidated subsidiaries. Such
officers have also evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under their supervision, the effectiveness of the Corporation’s
internal controls over financial reporting at the financial year end of the Corporation, and have concluded that such internal
controls over financial reporting are effective, at the financial year end of the Corporation, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of the Corporation’s financial reporting and preparation of financial statements together with other
financial information for external purposes in accordance with IFRS.
In May of 2013, The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) released an updated
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (“2013 COSO Framework”). PHX Energy has adopted the 2013 COSO Framework
as of January 1, 2014.
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The Corporation is required to disclose herein any change in the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting that
occurred during the period beginning on October 1, 2017 and ending on December 31, 2017 that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting. No material changes in the
Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting were identified during such period that has materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting.
It should be noted that a control system, including the Corporation’s disclosure and internal controls and procedures, no
matter how well conceived, can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control
system will be met and it should not be expected that the disclosure and internal controls and procedures will prevent all
errors or fraud.

Outstanding Corporation Share Data
(In thousands of shares)

As at February 28, 2017

Common shares outstanding

58,397,887

Dilutive securities:
Options

5,499,468

Corporation shares – diluted

63,897,355

Selected Annual Financial Information
The following selected annual financial information was obtained from the audited consolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRS.
(Stated in thousands of dollars except per share amounts)
Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

2015

Revenue

241,001

148,401

286,780

Net earnings (loss)

(23,528)

(46,517)

(42,489)

Earnings (Loss) per share – basic

(0.41)

(1.01)

(1.10)

Earnings (Loss) per share – diluted

(0.41)

(1.01)

(1.10)

Dividends paid

-

416

12,818

Dividends per share

-

0.01

0.35

Long-term debt
Total assets
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14,000

29,014

60,000

246,237

248,494

293,426
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In 2017, commodity prices continued to rebound from the latter half of 2016 causing drilling activity and day rates to
increase. Revenue declined by 48 percent from 2015 to 2016, however, in 2017 began recovering with an increase of 62
percent year-over-year. The Corporation is still recording a net loss in 2017 due to historically lower drilling activities relative
to years before the onset of the downturn, but the Corporation has implemented continuous cost control strategies since
2015. With the continued losses, PHX Energy’s objective is to maintain the stability of the Corporation’s financial position.
Cash flows were and will continue to be preserved wherever possible. The Corporation was able to raise funds yearly from
2015 to 2017 through an equity financing, and these funds were used to make significant repayments on its operating and
syndicated facilities, resulting in a 77 percent reduction in its long-term debt from 2015 to 2017. As at December 31, 2017,
PHX Energy’s total assets decreased to $246.2 million primarily as a result of lower capital expenditures and higher
depreciation rates.

Summary of Quarterly Results
(Stated in thousands of dollars except per share amounts)
Dec-17

Sept-17

Revenue

60,660

65,396

Net loss

(5,126)

(846)

(0.09)

(0.01)

(0.18)

(0.01)

Loss per share – basic

Jun-17

Mar-17

Dec-16

Sept-16

Jun-16

Mar-16

53,822

61,122

46,629

(10,412)

(7,143)

(15,074)

34,964

26,359

40,449

(10,679)

(13,360)

(7,404)

(0.13)

(0.30)

(0.21)

(0.32)

(0.18)

Loss per share – diluted

(0.09)

(0.18)

(0.13)

(0.30)

(0.21)

(0.32)

(0.18)

Adjusted EBITDA

5,440

12,357

553

4,333

3,182

(232)

(2,018)

4,115

Funds from operations

2,490

8,436

113

3,983

2,060

(1,894)

(3,192)

3,584

Activity levels in western Canada vary considerably due to seasonal weather patterns. Traditionally, the first quarter of the
calendar year is the most active for service companies due to cold weather. The ability to move heavy equipment in the
Canadian oil and natural gas fields is dependent on weather conditions. As warm weather returns in the spring, the winter’s
frost comes out of the ground rendering many secondary roads incapable of supporting the weight of heavy equipment until
they have thoroughly dried out. The duration of this “spring break-up” has a direct impact on the Corporation’s activity levels.
As a result, late March through May is traditionally the Corporation’s slowest time, as such, the operating results of the
Corporation vary on a quarterly basis. The Corporation’s activity levels in the US and international regions are not impacted
to the same extent during this Canadian spring break-up period.
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Outlook
The strengthening industry environment in 2017 created many positive results for PHX Energy and the Corporation achieved
growth and improved profitability. The fourth quarter of 2017 was the highest revenue and operating days for any fourth
quarter since 2014 when the downturn began. Looking forward to 2018, PHX Energy is cautiously optimistic that the industry
will continue to recover and potentially create opportunities for growth.
The Canadian industry remains challenging and there are many obstacles affecting the further recovery of this market. As a
result, the rig counts are anticipated to remain flat in 2018 as compared to 2017 with the first quarter being the most active of
the year. In light of this industry outlook, the Corporation’s strategy will be to leverage its expertise and strong operational
performance in the prominent drilling regions to remain a dominant player in an environment with perceived limited growth
opportunities.
In contrast, the US industry continues to show a recovery, and rig counts are forecasted to climb year-over-year in 2018.
With a more positive outlook for industry growth, the US remains PHX Energy’s primary market of focus. The reputation of
the US operating division has strengthened over the past few years, with PHX Energy becoming a more prominent player in
key basins such as the Permian. This is the result of the US segment delivering a high level of operational performance,
which can partially be attributed to the Corporation’s new technologies. PHX Energy’s strategy for new technology
deployment will continue to be directed towards the most active basins in the US market to further build market share and its
client base.
PHX Energy’s international operations were mainly focused in Russia in 2017 and this division is continuing to diversify its
service offering, which includes expanding its MWD rental business. The strategy for 2018 is to further capture greater
market share and PHX Energy anticipates future growth in Russia. In the first quarter of 2018, the Corporation resumed
operations on one rig in Albania, and PHX Energy is cautiously optimistic that this will continue throughout the 2018-year.
Stream achieved modest activity growth year-over-year and remains focused on gaining greater volumes to improve
profitability in the division. With its entrance into the US in the latter part 2017, Stream is gaining knowledge and experience
in this market. As with the Corporation’s directional division, the EDR division remains strategically focused on the US and
strives to expand its North American footprint.
With the growth experienced over the past year, PHX Energy did not waiver on its disciplined approach to cost management
and this aided the increased profitability in the 2017-year. PHX Energy is committed to sustaining this diligent approach to
spending to maintain its healthy financial position.
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Technology Update
PHX Energy continued its long-term strategy of developing and commercializing differentiating technologies that offer a
unique set of competitive advantages including the ability to create operating efficiencies and enhance well site performance,
support data driven drilling practices and create higher operating margins.
During the fourth quarter of 2017, gains anticipated from additional Velocity capacity were not fully realized as the delivery of
systems was delayed. The Corporation expects delivery in the first half of 2018 and has dedicated additional capital
expenditures to grow the fleet. Despite this expansion, PHX Energy believes Velocity will remain sold out throughout the
upcoming year as it continues to be one of the premium MWD technologies on the market. Velocity delivers on all three of
PHX Energy’s technology objectives mentioned above and it is this success that puts Velocity in such high demand.
Just as Velocity was designed to be a new generation MWD platform, the objective of developing the 7.25” Atlas High
Performance Drilling Motor (“Atlas”) was to offer a step change in motor technology. In the fourth quarter, additional
engineering and design enhancements were made and are currently being deployed to the field. Although these new
enhancements have only recently been run downhole, the performance on these initial wells is surpassing what this powerful
motor was already achieving. PHX Energy is excited about Atlas’ potential to drive well site performance and deliver overall
cost savings to operators.
PHX Energy has leveraged remote drilling capabilities in its operations for many years, and with the advancements to its
technologies, such as the development of Connect, the Corporation is now being looked to by select customers to be a
partner in their efforts to establish remote drilling centres. PHX Energy has state-of-the-art centres at its Calgary and
Houston facilities and Connect offers specific advantages for customers’ in-house remote operations.
PHX Energy believes further improvements in financial and operational performance will be made in 2018 as the industry
continues to gradually recover from the challenges of the downturn. PHX Energy is diligently focused on propelling its
technology development in order to achieve higher margins and greater growth in the US market. The Corporation will
leverage the efficiencies and disciplined cost management established to survive the downturn to further strengthen its
financial position.
Michael Buker, President
February 28, 2017
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Non-GAAP Measures
1. Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA, defined as earnings before finance expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, impairment
losses on goodwill and intangible assets, provisions for the settlement of litigations, equity and cash-settled share-based
payments, severance costs, and other non-cash charges, is not a financial measure that is recognized under GAAP.
However, Management believes that adjusted EBITDA provides supplemental information to net earnings that is useful in
evaluating the results of the Corporation’s principal business activities before considering certain charges, how it was
financed and how it was taxed in various countries. Investors should be cautioned, however, that adjusted EBITDA
should not be construed as an alternative measure to net earnings determined in accordance with GAAP. PHX Energy’s
method of calculating adjusted EBITDA may differ from that of other organizations and, accordingly, its adjusted EBITDA
may not be comparable to that of other companies.
The following is a reconciliation of net earnings to adjusted EBITDA:
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Three-month periods ended December 31,

Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

(5,126)

(15,074)

(23,528)

(46,517)

Depreciation and amortization

10,187

10,886

41,621

49,752

Provision for (Recovery of) income taxes

Net loss

2017

2016

Add:
(1,066)

116

(2,757)

(13,383)

Finance expense

516

502

2,011

1,952

Equity-settled share-based payments

381

165

2,600

1,542

Cash-settled share-based payments (recoveries)

540

1,585

1,315

4,094

-

385

785

2,091

Provision for inventory

173

2,317

1,073

3,217

Provision for onerous contracts

(165)

2,300

Severance costs

Adjusted EBITDA as reported

5,440

3,182

(437)
22,683

2,300
5,048

Adjusted EBITDA per share - diluted is calculated using the treasury stock method whereby deemed proceeds on the
exercise of the share options are used to reacquire common shares at an average share price. The calculation of
adjusted EBITDA per share on a dilutive basis does not include anti-dilutive options.
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2. Funds from Operations
Funds from operations is defined as cash flows generated from operating activities before changes in non-cash working
capital, interest paid, and income taxes paid. This is not a measure recognized under GAAP. Management uses funds
from operations as an indication of the Corporation’s ability to generate funds from its operations before considering
changes in working capital balances and interest and taxes paid. Investors should be cautioned, however, that this
financial measure should not be construed as an alternative measure to cash flows from operating activities determined
in accordance with GAAP. PHX Energy’s method of calculating funds from operations may differ from that of other
organizations and, accordingly, it may not be comparable to that of other companies.
The following is a reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to funds from operations:
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Three-month periods ended December 31,
Net cash flows from operating activities

Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

2017

2016

10,135

359

225

5,091

Add (deduct):
Changes in non-cash working capital

1,791

17,065

Interest paid

(8,401)
223

400

962

1,382

Income taxes paid (recovered)

533

(490)

(3,229)

(4,444)

15,023

559

Funds from operations

2,490

2,060

(1,470)

Funds from operations per share - diluted is calculated using the treasury stock method whereby deemed proceeds on
the exercise of the share options are used to reacquire common shares at an average share price. The calculation of
funds from operations per share on a dilutive basis does not include anti-dilutive options.

3. Debt to Covenant EBITDA Ratio
Debt is represented by loans and borrowings. Covenant EBITDA, for purposes of the calculation of this covenant ratio, is
represented by net earnings for a rolling four quarter period, adjusted for finance expense, provision for income taxes,
depreciation and amortization, equity-settled share-based payments, unrealized foreign exchange losses, impairment
losses on goodwill and intangible assets, loss on disposition of drilling equipment, severance costs, provision for
inventory obsolescence and provision for the settlement of litigations, subject to the restrictions provided in the amended
credit agreement.
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4. Working Capital
Working capital is defined as the Corporation’s current assets less its current liabilities and is used to assess the
Corporation’s short-term liquidity.

Definitions
When the Corporation refers to operating days throughout this document, it is referring to the billable days on which PHX Energy
is providing services to the customer at the rig site. Average operating day rate is calculated by dividing revenue by the number
of operating days. Average consolidated day rate is calculated by dividing consolidated revenue by the consolidated number of
operating days.
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Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders
To the Shareholders of PHX Energy Services Corp.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of PHX Energy Services Corp., which comprise the
consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the consolidated statements
of comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of PHX Energy Services Corp. as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, and its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants
February 28, 2018
Calgary, Canada

-42-

Consolidated Financial Statements & Notes

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
December 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

4,122,539

$

7,007,293

Trade and other receivables

66,635,311

41,552,796

Inventories (Note 5)

22,009,483

24,988,472

Prepaid expenses

2,915,878

2,613,716

Current tax assets

1,353,622

5,293,489

Total current assets

97,036,833

81,455,766

Drilling and other equipment (Note 6)

98,569,594

121,172,229

Intangible assets (Note 8)

26,925,046

26,302,314

8,876,351

8,876,351

14,828,714

10,687,684

Non-current assets:

Goodwill (Note 7)
Deferred tax assets (Note 10)
Total non-current assets

149,199,705

Total assets

167,038,578

$

246,236,538

$

248,494,344

$

5,620,464

$

6,031,547

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Operating facility (Note 9)
Trade and other payables

41,629,783

31,194,630

47,250,247

37,226,177

Loans and borrowings (Note 9)

14,000,000

29,014,050

Provision for onerous contracts

2,015,000

2,300,000

Deferred income

1,433,339

1,566,671

17,448,339

32,880,721

266,838,036

237,539,242

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities:

Total non-current liabilities
Equity:
Share capital (Note 11a)
Contributed surplus

9,315,926

Retained earnings

6,817,458

(106,438,399)

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(82,910,425)

11,822,389

16,941,171

181,537,952

178,387,446

246,236,538

$

248,494,344
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
2017

Years ended December 31,
Revenue (Note 16)

$

Direct costs (Note 13)

241,000,892

2016
$

235,687,393

Gross profit (loss)

148,400,609
172,495,460

5,313,499

(24,094,851)

Expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses (Note 13)

32,460,524

31,627,880

Research and development expenses (Note 13)

2,463,114

2,000,895

Finance expense
Other (income) expense (Note 14)

2,010,678
(5,336,197)

1,952,106
224,052

31,598,119

35,804,933

(26,284,620)

(59,899,784)

Loss before income taxes
Provision for (Recovery of) income taxes (Note 15)
Current
Deferred
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss
Foreign currency translation

411,765

(4,606,066)

(3,168,411)

(8,776,922)

(2,756,646)

(13,382,988)

(23,527,974)

(46,516,796)

(5,118,782)

(1,396,042)

Total comprehensive loss for the period

$

(28,646,756)

$

(47,912,838)

Loss per share – basic (Note 11c)

$

(0.41)

$

(1.01)

Loss per share – diluted (Note 11c)

$

(0.41)

$

(1.01)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
Year Ended
December 31, 2017
Balance, December 31, 2016
Issuance of share capital
(Note 11a)
Common Shares repurchased
(Note 11a)

Number
50,810,721

$

Amount ($)

Contributed Surplus

237,539,242

$

7,779,166

6,817,458

29,623,708

(192,000)

(426,461)

2,600,015

-

-

2,600,015

-

-

-

-

(23,527,974)

(23,527,974)

-

(5,118,782)

Net loss

-

-

-

Foreign currency translation

-

-

-

December 31, 2016
Balance, December 31, 2015
Issuance of share capital
(Note 11a)

(101,547)

9,315,926

(5,118,782)
$

41,567,023

Amount ($)
$

213,604,045

Contributed Surplus
$

5,390,124

11,822,389

$

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income

Share Capital
Number

178,387,446

-

101,547

Year Ended

$

-

-

$

(82,910,425)

-

Fair value of options exercised

266,838,036

$

-

-

$

16,941,171

Total Equity

-

-

58,397,887

$

Retained Earnings

-

Share-based payments

Balance, December 31, 2017

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income

Share Capital

$

18,337,213

(106,438,399)

29,623,708
(426,461)

$

Retained Earnings
$

(36,393,629)

181,537,952

Total Equity
$

200,937,753

9,243,698

23,820,518

-

-

-

23,820,518

Common Shares repurchased
(Note 11a)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Share-based payments

-

-

1,542,013

-

-

1,542,013

Fair value of options exercised

-

114,679

-

-

-

Net loss

-

-

-

-

(46,516,796)

(46,516,796)

Foreign currency translation

-

-

-

-

(1,396,042)

Balance, December 31, 2016

50,810,721

$

237,539,242

(114,679)

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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6,817,458

(1,396,042)
$

16,941,171

$

(82,910,425)

$

178,387,446
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments for:

$

(23,527,974) $

(46,516,796)

Depreciation and amortization
Recovery of income taxes (Note 15)

41,620,740
(2,756,646)

49,752,222
(13,382,988)

Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss
Loss (Gain) on disposition of drilling equipment (Note 14)

155,832
(6,061,340)

1,573,606
(114,656)

Equity-settled share-based payments (Note 12a)
Finance expense

2,600,015
2,010,678

1,542,013
1,952,106

Provision for bad debts (Note 14)
Provisions for inventory (Note 5,13)

478,707
1,072,851

369,159
3,217,371

(437,000)
(133,332)

2,300,000
(133,332)

(962,240)

(1,382,272)

3,229,839
(17,065,226)

4,444,822
1,470,083

Provision for onerous contracts (Note 13)
Amortization of deferred income
Interest paid
Income taxes recovered
Change in non-cash working capital (Note 17)
Net cash from operating activities

224,904

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds on disposition of drilling equipment
Acquisition of drilling and other equipment (Note 6)
Acquisition of intangible assets (Note 8)
Change in non-cash working capital (Note 17)

5,091,338

11,575,430

4,535,991

(25,673,004)
(2,916,211)

(7,811,179)
(3,757,344)

601,139

Net cash used in investing activities

1,890,757

(16,412,646)

(5,141,775)

Proceeds from issuance of share capital (Note 11a)
Dividends paid to shareholders (Note 11d)

29,154,582
-

23,438,637
(415,670)

Repayment of loans and borrowings
Repurchase of shares under the NCIB (Note 11a)

(15,014,050)
(426,461)

(31,004,592)
-

Cash flows from financing activities:

(Repayment of) Proceeds from operating facility

(411,083)

6,031,547

Net cash from (used in) financing activities

13,302,988

(1,950,078)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

(2,884,754)
7,007,293

(2,000,515)
9,007,808

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
In Canadian dollars

1. Reporting Entity
PHX Energy is a publicly-traded Corporation listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the symbol “PHX”. The
Corporation’s registered office is at Suite 1400, 250 - 2nd Street SW Calgary, Alberta Canada.
The Corporation, through its subsidiaries, provides horizontal and directional drilling services, as well as web-based
remote electronic drilling recorder (“EDR”) technology and services, to oil and natural gas exploration and development
companies in Canada, United States, Albania, and Russia. The Corporation also develops and manufactures technologies
that are made available for internal operational use.
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries.

2. Basis of Preparation
a) Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”). Details of the Corporation’s accounting policies, including changes during the year, are included in Note 3.
The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on February
28, 2018.

b) Basis of Measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis using the historical cost basis
except for liabilities for cash-settled share-based payment arrangements which are measured at fair value and
included in trade and other payables in the statement of financial position.
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c) Functional and Presentation Currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars (“CAD”), which is the Corporation’s
functional currency.

d) Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires Management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
Assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of material adjustment within the next financial
year include the following:


estimated useful lives of drilling and other equipment and intangible assets,



key assumptions used in the valuation of drilling and other equipment, goodwill and intangible assets not
yet in use,



recognition of deferred tax assets based on estimates of the availability of future taxable profit against
which carry-forward tax losses can be used,



key assumptions used in the valuation of inventory, and



valuation of accounts receivable.

e) Critical Judgments
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in
the consolidated financial statements are:


determination of cash generating units,



assessment of whether impairment indicators exist and impairment testing is required, and



assessment of deferred income taxes as the Corporation operates in foreign jurisdictions where regulations
are complex and differ from Canada.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements.

a) Basis of Consolidation
i. Business Combinations
Business acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Corporation.
The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets
acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognized
in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or
equity securities.
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. In a
business combination achieved in stages, the acquirer re-measures its previously held equity interest in the acquiree
at its acquisition-date fair value and recognizes the resulting gain or loss, if any, in profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration
is classified as equity, then it is not re-measured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognized in profit or loss.

ii. Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Corporation. The Corporation controls an entity when it is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.
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iii. Loss of Control
When the Corporation loses control over a subsidiary it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and
any other related components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

iv. Transactions Eliminated on Consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are
eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Corporation’s interest in the investee. Unrealized losses are
eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

v. Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Corporation’s entities
at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. The methods used to account for assets and liabilities relating to
foreign currency transactions entered into by the Corporation’s entities, and to measure the foreign exchange risk
arising on such transactions, depend upon whether the asset or liability in question is classified as a monetary or
non-monetary item.
Receivables, liabilities and other monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are
translated at the functional currency spot exchange rate at the statement of financial position date. Exchange
differences that arise between the rate at the transaction date and the one in effect at the payment date or the rate
at the statement of financial position date are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as other income
or expense.
Drilling and other equipment, inventories and other non-monetary items purchased in foreign currencies and that are
measured on the basis of historical cost are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

vi. Foreign Operations
When entities, which prepare their financial statements in a functional currency other than Canadian dollars, are
recognized in the consolidated financial statements, the income and expenses are translated at the monthly average
exchange rates. The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Canadian dollars at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the statement of financial position date.
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Foreign currency differences are recognized in other comprehensive income in the accumulated other
comprehensive income account. The exchange differences arising on the translation to the Corporation’s
presentation currency are recognized directly in the cumulative translation reserve as a separate component of
equity. When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control, significant influence or
joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified
to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor
likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are considered
to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognized in other comprehensive income, and are
presented within equity in accumulated other comprehensive income.

b) Financial Instruments
i. Non-Derivative Financial Instruments
The Corporation initially recognizes trade and other receivables on the date that they originate. All other financial
assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognized initially on the trade date at
which the Corporation becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when,
the Corporation has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
During the year, the Corporation had the following non-derivative financial assets: financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and trade and other receivables.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash balances and deposits with original maturities of three-months or
less.
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less
any impairment losses. Loans and receivables are comprised of trade and other receivables.
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Other financial liabilities
The Corporation initially recognizes debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are
originated. All other financial liabilities are recognized initially on the trade date at which the Corporation becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
The Corporation derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
The Corporation has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: loans and borrowings, operating facility, and
trade and other payables.
Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value net of any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method.

ii. Share Capital
Common shares
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and
share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
Repurchase and reissue of common shares (treasury shares)
When shares recognized as equity are repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly
attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognized as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified
as treasury shares and are presented in the treasury share reserve. When treasury shares are sold or reissued
subsequently, the amount received is recognized as an increase in equity and the resulting surplus or deficit on the
transaction is presented within contributed surplus.
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c) Drilling and Other Equipment
i. Recognition and Measurement
Items of drilling and other equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.
Cost is comprised of the acquisition price, costs directly attributable to the acquisition and preparation costs of the
asset until the time when it is ready to be put into operation. Where material, borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period of time to be
ready for use) are included in capitalized cost. Borrowing costs have not been material to the cost of assets for any
period presented. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour and any other
costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use. No borrowing costs
were capitalized in 2017 and 2016.
Drilling and other equipment also include parts and raw materials awaiting assembly. These assets are recorded at
cost and no depreciation is taken until the asset is completed and available for intended use.
When parts of an item of drilling and other equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate
items (major components) of drilling and other equipment.
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of drilling and other equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds
from disposal with the carrying amount of drilling and other equipment, and are recognized net within other income
in the Corporation’s profit or loss.

ii. Subsequent Costs
The cost of replacing a part of an item of drilling and other equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Corporation, and its
cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-today servicing of drilling and other equipment (repair and maintenance) are recognized in the Corporation’s profit or
loss as incurred.
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iii. Depreciation
Depreciation expense is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of drilling
and other equipment and is calculated using the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount
substituted for cost, less its residual value.
Significant components of individual assets are assessed, and if a component has a useful life that is different from
the remainder of that asset, then that component is depreciated separately.
The estimated useful lives for the current period are as follows:
Directional drilling equipment

3 to 8 years straight-line

EDR equipment

2 to 10 years straight-line

Office and computer equipment

3 to 5 years straight-line

Machinery and equipment

5 years straight-line

Vehicles

5 years straight-line

Building

20 years straight-line

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if
appropriate.

d) Intangible Assets and Goodwill
i. Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

ii. Research and Development Costs
Expenditure on research activities undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and
understanding is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved product and
process. Development expenditure is capitalized only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or
process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Corporation intends
to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. The expenditure capitalized
includes the cost of materials, direct labour, overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its
intended use, and borrowing costs. Other development expenditures are recognized in profit or
loss as incurred.
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Capitalized development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses.

iii. Other Intangible Assets
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Corporation and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less
accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.

iv. Subsequent Expenditures
Subsequent expenditures are capitalized only when they increase the future economic benefits embodied in the
specific asset to which they relate. All other expenditures, including expenditures on internally generated goodwill is
recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

v. Amortization
Amortization is calculated to write-off the costs of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognized in profit or loss. Goodwill is not
amortized.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Licenses
Technology

10 to 15 years
10 years

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

e) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories is based on the firstin first-out method, and includes expenditures incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs
and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.
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f) Impairment
i. Financial Assets (Including Receivables)
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates
that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of
an amount due to the Corporation on terms that the Corporation would not consider otherwise, and indications that
a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy.
The Corporation considers evidence of impairment for receivables at a specific asset level. All individually significant
receivables are assessed for specific impairment.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between
its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original
effective interest rate. Losses are recognized in profit or loss and are reflected in an allowance account against
receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognized through the unwinding of the discount. When
a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss.

ii. Non-Financial Assets
The carrying amounts of the Corporation’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (“CGU”) is the greater of its value in use and its fair
value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the
cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. For the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to the group of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
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combination. This allocation is subject to an operating segment ceiling test and reflects the lowest level at which that
goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes.
The Corporation’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a
corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate
asset belongs.
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying
amounts of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognized
in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer
exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had
been recognized.

iii. Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related
service is provided.
A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus plans if the Corporation has
a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee,
and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
Share-based payment transactions
The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognized as an employee
expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled
to the awards (vesting period). The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards
for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount
ultimately recognized as an expense is based on the number of awards that do meet the related service and nonmarket performance conditions at the vesting date.
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The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of Retention Awards, which are settled in cash, is
recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period that the employees
unconditionally become entitled to payment. The liability is re-measured at each reporting date and at settlement
date. Any changes in the fair value of the liability are recognized as personnel expense in profit or loss.

g) Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the
discount is recognized as finance cost.

h) Revenue
Revenue from drilling services is based on a daily rate and is recognized in profit and loss for services provided as
at the statement of financial position date. EDR rental revenue is recognized based on completion of each rental day
for products and services. The Corporation’s services are sold based upon bid acceptance or contracts with
customers that include fixed or determinable prices based upon daily, hourly or job rates. The criteria for recognition
of revenue are:


probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity,



stage of completion of the transaction at the statement of financial position date can be measured reliably,



amount of revenue can be measured reliably, and



costs incurred and costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

Based on these criteria, revenue is recognized in the period in which services are rendered. Revenue is measured
at the fair value of the consideration received and is recorded net of sales tax, duties, customer discounts and similar
charges. Where the contract outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognized only to the extent that
the expenses incurred are eligible to be recovered.
Revenue is reported net of supplier costs when the Corporation is acting as an agent between the client and the
supplier. Factors considered to determine whether the Corporation is a principal or an agent are whether it is the
primary obligor to the client, it assumes credit and delivery risks, or it adds meaningful value to the supplier’s product
or service.
Income from recharges of freight and other activities which are incidental to the normal revenue generating activities
is included in drilling service revenue.
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i) Leases
i. Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease
At inception of an arrangement, the Corporation determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease.
At inception or on re-assessment of an arrangement that contains a lease, the Corporation separates payments and
other consideration required by the arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the basis
of their relative fair values. If the Corporation concludes for a finance lease that it is impractical to separate the
payments reliably, then an asset and a liability are recognized at an amount equal to the fair value of the underlying
asset; subsequently, the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance cost on the liability is
recognized using the Corporation’s incremental borrowing rate.

ii. Leased Assets
Assets held by the Corporation under leases that transfer to the Corporation substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as finance leases. The leased assets are measured initially at an amount equal to the
lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
assets are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.
Assets held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognized in the Corporation’s
statement of financial position.

iii. Lease Payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the
lease.

j) Finance Income and Expense
Finance income comprises of interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognized as it accrues in the
Corporation’s profit or loss, using the effective interest method.
Finance expense comprises interest expense on borrowings. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognized in the Corporation’s profit or loss using
the effective interest method.
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k) Income Tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognized directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the
following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities,
but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized
simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related
tax benefit will be realized.
Tax exposures
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Corporation takes into account the impact of uncertain tax
positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This assessment relies on estimates and
assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become available
that causes the Corporation to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes
to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.
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l) Earnings per Share
The Corporation presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic per share amounts
are calculated by dividing the earnings or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Corporation by the
weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted
per share amounts are calculated by adjusting the earnings or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted to employees.

m) Segment Reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Corporation that engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the
Corporation’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the
Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and
assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.
Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that
can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly of corporate assets (primarily the
Corporation’s headquarters), head office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities.
Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire drilling and other equipment, and
intangible assets other than goodwill.
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4. New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted
Certain new standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to existing standards are effective for accounting
periods beginning on after January 1, 2018. These standards have not been applied in preparing these consolidated
financial statements. Those which may be relevant to the Corporation are set out below.

a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9
includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, including a new expected
credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, new treatment for modification or exchange of
financial liabilities, and the new general hedge accounting requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on
recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Corporation intends to adopt IFRS 9 for
the annual period beginning on January 1, 2018. The Corporation is finalizing its evaluation of IFRS 9 but does not
expect that the adoption of the standard will have a material effect on the financial statements.

b) IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is
recognized. It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue. IFRS 15 is effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Corporation
intends to adopt IFRS 15 for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2018. The Corporation is finalizing its review
of sales contracts with customers but does not expect IFRS 15 to have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements. Upon adoption, the Corporation will expand its disclosures on the disaggregation of revenue within the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

c) IFRS 16 Leases
In January 2016, the International Accounting Standards Board issued the final version of IFRS 16, Leases. IFRS
16 will replace the existing leases Standard, IAS 17 Leases, and related Interpretations. The Standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract (i.e.,
the lessee and the lessor). IFRS 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize
assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than twelve months, unless the underlying asset is of low
value. Currently, operating lease expenses are charged to the statement of comprehensive income. The Standard
also contains enhanced disclosure requirements for lessees. IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in IAS 17.
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The effective date for adoption of IFRS 16 is annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, though early
adoption is permitted for companies applying IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The Corporation
intends to adopt IFRS 16 for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2019. The Corporation has commenced
reviewing its various lease and service contracts to determine the impact that the adoption of the standard will have
on its financial statements.

5. Inventories
Inventories are mainly comprised of drilling and other equipment repair parts. In 2017, consumed repair parts, which are
included in direct costs, amounted to $24.8 million (2016 - $13.5 million). For the year ended December 31, 2017, the
Corporation recognized a provision for obsolete inventory of $1.1 million (2016 - $3.2 million)

6. Drilling and Other Long-Term Assets
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Directional
Drilling
Equipment

EDR
Equipment

Machinery
and
Equipment

Office and
Computer
Equipment

Development
Costs

Vehicles

Building

Land

Total

258,447

6,058

19,517

15,719

3,791

782

3,359

175

307,848

Additions

21,491

2,855

357

613

-

357

-

-

25,673

Disposals

(15,323)

(74)

(581)

-

-

(52)

-

-

(16,030)

(9,831)

(50)

(738)

-

(67)

(11)

(11,342)

Cost
At January 1, 2017

Effect of movement
in exchange rate
At December 31, 2017

254,784

(424)

(221)

8,789

18,555

15,908

3,791

1,020

3,138

164

306,149

11,384

8,929

3,685

435

869

-

186,676

2,574
-

12
-

202
(52)

144
-

-

39,323
(10,516)

-

(43)

(62)

-

(7,904)

Accumulated Depreciation
At January 1, 2017

158,468

2,906

Depreciation
Disposals

32,457
(10,130)

1,366
(48)

2,568
(286)

(7,025)

(24)

(452)

Effect of movement
in exchange rate
At December 31, 2017
Carrying amount
at December 31, 2017

(298)

173,770

4,200

13,214

11,205

3,697

542

951

-

207,579

81,014

4,589

5,341

4,703

94

478

2,187

164

98,570
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(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Directional
Drilling
Equipment

EDR
Equipment

Machinery
and
Equipment

Office and
Computer
Equipment

Development
Costs

Vehicles

Building

Land

Total

Cost
At January 1, 2016

265,268

8,981

18,209

15,829

3,779

843

3,463

181

316,553

Additions

5,201

1,627

519

20

12

-

432

-

7,811

Disposals

(9,338)

(3,422)

(19)

(6)

-

(279)

-

-

(13,064)

Effect of movement
in exchange rate

(2,684)

(1,128)

808

(124)

-

218

(6)

(3,452)

At December 31, 2016

258,447

(536)

6,058

19,517

15,719

3,791

782

3,359

175

307,848

Accumulated Depreciation
At January 1, 2016

126,318

4,074

8,733

6,500

3,675

400

739

-

150,439

Depreciation

39,088

2,368

2,614

2,825

10

218

150

-

47,273

Disposals

(5,259)

(3,138)

Effect of movement
in exchange rate

(1,679)

(398)

(9)
46

(3)

-

(234)

-

-

(8,643)

(393)

-

51

(20)

-

(2,393)

At December 31, 2016

158,468

2,906

11,384

8,929

3,685

435

869

-

186,676

Carrying amount
at December 31, 2016

99,979

3,152

8,133

6,790

106

347

2,490

175

121,172

During the period ended December 31, 2017, the Corporation acquired assets with a cost of $25.7 million (2016 - $7.8
million).
Assets with a carrying amount of $5.5 million (2016 - $4.4 million) were disposed of as a result of tools lost downhole and
scrapped assets, resulting in a net gain on disposition of $6.1 million (2016 - $0.1 million), which is included in other
expenses (income) in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.

a) Capital Commitments
As at December 31, 2017, the Corporation has entered into commitments to purchase drilling and other equipment
for $5.4 million (2016 - $1.4 million); delivery is expected to occur within the first half of 2018.
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7. Goodwill
Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at the end of each year, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Corporation’s CGUs which represent the lowest levels
within the Corporation at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
As at December 31, 2017, the full carrying amount of goodwill of $8.9 million (2016 - $8.9 million) was allocated to the
Canadian CGU. The recoverable amount was based on its value in use determined by discounting expected future cash
flows to be generated from the continuing use of the assets within the CGU. The cash flows used in the calculation were
discounted using a discount rate, which was estimated using the weighted-average cost of capital formula and adjusted
for risks specific to the CGU. The following key assumptions were used in the discounted cash flow projection:


2018 forecasted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”), which is
generally in line with 2017 results, with an average revenue growth rate of 17 percent for the next four
years. The forecasted growth was estimated based on past experience and the expectation that commodity
prices will continue to recover and stabilize in 2018 resulting in improved activity and day rates for the
Corporation.



Terminal growth rate of 2.5 percent based on Management’s estimate, consistent with the assumptions
that a market participant would make.



A discount rate of 12.6 percent that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
risks specific to the Canadian CGU.

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent Management’s assessment of future trends in the service industry
and are based on both external sources and internal sources (historical data).
The estimated recoverable amount which exceeded its carrying amount was $30.2 million for the Canadian CGU and
there was no impairment of goodwill as at December 31, 2017. Management identified that an increase of 5.1 percent in
the discount rate or a reduction of 10 percent in the revenue growth rate could cause the carrying amount of the Canadian
CGU to exceed the recoverable amount.
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8. Intangible Assets
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Technology

License

Development
Costs

Systems/
Software

Total

Cost
At January 1, 2017
Additions

3,204
15

24,065
1,935

1,649
928

1,922
38

30,840
2,916

At December 31, 2017

3,219

26,000

2,577

1,960

33,756

927
474

2,721
1,649

-

890
170

4,538
2,293

At December 31, 2017

1,401

4,370

-

1,060

6,831

Carrying amount at December 31, 2017

1,818

21,630

2,577

900

26,925

Technology

License

Development
Costs

Systems/
Software

Total

2,942

21,000

1,349

1,792

27,083

262

3,065

300

130

3,757

3,204

24,065

1,649

1,922

30,840

At January 1, 2016

822

367

-

869

2,058

Amortization

105

2,354

-

21

2,480

At December 31, 2016

927

2,721

-

890

4,538

2,277

21,344

1,649

1,032

26,302

Accumulated amortization
At January 1, 2017
Amortization

(Stated in thousands of dollars)

Cost
At January 1, 2016
Additions
At December 31, 2016
Accumulated amortization

Carrying amount at December 31, 2016

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Corporation acquired intangible assets with a total cost of $2.9 million
(2016 - $3.8 million).
As at December 31, 2017, the Corporation has contingent liabilities arising from existing development agreements of $1.0
million expected to be paid in 2018.
As at December 31, 2017, the Corporation identified impairment indicators in the Stream CGU, calculation of the
recoverable amount resulted in no impairment. Management identified that an increase of 3.2 percent in the discount rate
could cause the carrying amount of the Stream CGU to exceed the recoverable amount.
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9.

Loans and Borrowings
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Currency

Amount of
Facility

Date of Maturity

Currency

Carrying Amount at
December 31, 2017

Currency

Carrying Amount at
December 31, 2016

CAD

15,000

Due on demand

CAD

5,620

CAD

6,032

Syndicated Facility

CAD

48,000

December 11, 2020

CAD

14,000

CAD

27,000

US Operating Facility

USD

5,000

December 11, 2020

USD

-

USD

1,500

Operating Facility

On November 30, 2017, the Corporation amended its credit agreement with its syndicate of lenders. The key amendments
included:


The Corporation increased the maximum principal amounts available under the Operating Facility from
CAD$10.0 million to CAD$15.0 million, and the US Operating Facility from USD$1.5 million to US$5.0 million.



The Corporation extended the maturity date of the credit facilities to December 11, 2020.



The Corporation will no longer be subject to a minimum liquidity test.



The Corporation’s net capital expenditures in any fiscal year cannot exceed CAD $30.0 million, net of proceeds
from dispositions, unless the Corporation’s trailing twelve month EBITDA is greater than CAD$30.0 million, and,
debt to EBITDA ratio for the most recent quarter end is less than 3.00:1.00, and, the interest coverage ratio for
the most recent quarter end is greater than 3.00:1.00.



For the periods ending December 31, 2017 and thereafter, the debt to EBITDA ratio shall be calculated on a
rolling four-quarter basis. The following financial statement covenants remain in effect:
Quarter Ending

Debt to Covenant EBITDA Ratio

Interest Coverage Ratio

Dec. 31, 2017

< 4.0x

> 3.0x

Mar. 31, 2018

< 3.5x

> 3.0x

June 30, 2018

< 3.5x

> 3.0x

Quarters ending thereafter

< 3.0x

> 3.0x

As at December 31, 2017, the Corporation was in compliance with all its financial covenants as follows:
Ratio

Covenant

As at December 31, 2017

Debt to covenant EBITDA

<4.0x

1.43

Interest coverage ratio

>3.0x

6.82

<$31.8 million

$28.6 million

Net capital expenditures and intangible asset acquisitions

The Corporation had approximately CAD$43.4 million and USD$5.0 million available to be drawn from its credit facilities
as at December 31, 2017.
The credit facilities are secured by substantially all of the Corporation's assets.
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10. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
a) Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
The Corporation has unrecognized deferred tax assets of $3.4 million (2016 - $5.9 million) in relation to non-capital
tax losses that can be carried forward against future taxable income of the entities in which the losses arose.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the losses as they may not be used to offset taxable
profits elsewhere in the Corporation, and they have arisen in subsidiaries that have not established indicators
demonstrating it is more likely than not that future profits will be available to utilize those loss carry-forwards. These
unrecognized deferred tax assets expire starting in 2018. There are no other deductible temporary differences that
have not been recognized at the reporting date.

b) Recognized Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

Deferred income tax assets:
Non-capital income tax losses

$

17,214,755

$

16,067,820

Partnership loss

229,377

-

Deferred income and provision for onerous contracts
Other (including other equipment, intangible assets, foreign and other
tax credits)

931,051

1,044,001

6,603,366

6,207,558

$

24,978,549

$

$

(6,707,344) $

23,319,379

Deferred income tax liabilities:
Drilling and other equipment
Partnership income
Intangible assets
Investment tax credits
Other
Net deferred income tax asset (liability)

$

(8,678,581)

-

(1,090,136)

(2,685,705)

(2,260,644)

(731,270)

(574,032)

(25,516)

(28,302)

(10,149,835)

(12,631,695)

14,828,714

$

10,687,684

The non-capital income tax losses expire starting in 2019.
Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent it is considered probable that those assets will be recoverable.
The determination involves an assessment of when those deferred tax assets are likely to reverse and a judgment
of whether there will be sufficient taxable profits available to offset the tax assets when they do reverse. Assumptions
regarding future profitability have been made and used as the basis for recognizing the deferred tax asset. Deferred
tax movements are included in net loss.
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11. Share Capital
a) Authorized and Issued Shares
The Corporation is authorized to issue an unlimited number of shares.
Number
Balance as at January 1, 2016

41,567,023

Issued shares pursuant to equity financing and private placement
Transaction costs
Tax effect of transaction costs
Issued shares pursuant to share option plan

Amount
$

9,120,407

213,604,045
24,625,099

-

(1,414,375)

-

381,881

116,399

331,657

6,892

10,935

Issued shares pursuant to Dividend Re-Investment Plan (“DRIP”)
Balance as at December 31, 2016

50,810,721

$

237,539,242

Issued shares pursuant to equity financing and private placement

7,687,500

$

30,750,000

Transaction costs
Tax effect of transaction costs
Issued shares pursuant to share option plan
Common Shares repurchased
Balance as at December 31, 2017

-

(1,737,500)

-

469,125

91,666

243,630

(192,000)

(426,461)

58,397,887

$

266,838,036

On February 2, 2017, PHX Energy closed a bought deal short-term prospectus for aggregate proceeds of $28.8
million. An aggregate of 7,187,500 common shares of the Corporation were issued at a price of $4.00 per common
share. Concurrent with the closing of the public offering, certain directors, officers, employees and consultants of
PHX Energy purchased a total of 500,000 common shares at a price of $4.00 per share on a private placement
basis. The gross proceeds from the public offering and concurrent private placement totaled to approximately $30.8
million.
On June 28, 2016, PHX Energy closed a bought deal short-term prospectus for aggregate proceeds of $23.3 million.
An aggregate of 8,625,000 common shares of the Corporation were issued at a price of $2.70 per common share.
Concurrent with the closing of the public offering, certain directors, officers, employees and consultants of PHX
Energy purchased a total of 495,407 common shares at a price of $2.70 per share on a private placement basis.
The gross proceeds from the public offering and concurrent private placement totaled to approximately $24.6
million.
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b) Weighted-Average Number of Shares
2017

2016

50,810,721

41,567,023

6,992,466

4,634,961

-

6,610

Effect of share options exercised

75,844

24,656

Effect of shares pursuant to Normal Course Issuer Bid

(16,590)

-

Weighted-average number of shares at December 31,

57,862,441

46,233,250

Issued shares at January 1,
Effect of shares issued pursuant to equity financing and private placement
Effect of shares issued pursuant to DRIP

c) Basic and Diluted Loss per Share
2017
Basic loss per share:

$

Loss
(numerator)

Shares
(denominator)

(23,527,974)

57,862,441

-

-

(23,527,974)

57,862,441

Loss
(numerator)

Shares
(denominator)

(46,516,796)

46,233,250

-

-

(46,516,796)

46,233,250

Per Share
Amount
$

(0.41)

$

(0.41)

Diluted loss per share:
Dilutive effect of share option conversions
$

2016
Basic loss per share:

$

Per Share
Amount
$

(1.01)

$

(1.01)

Diluted loss per share:
Dilutive effect of share option conversions
$

As at December 31, 2017, as the Corporation was in a loss position, for the calculation of diluted earnings per share,
all options were determined to be anti-dilutive and were excluded. The number of excluded options was 5,499,468
(2016 – 3,462,803) of which 2,293,601 options (2016 – 1,758,601) had exercise prices below the Corporation share
price as at December 31, 2017.

d) Dividends
In aggregate, dividends of nil were declared for the year ended December 31, 2017. During the year ended December
31, 2016, the Corporation paid dividends totaling $0.4 million. On February 24, 2016, the Corporation suspended its
quarterly dividend.
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e) Normal Course Issuer Bid (“NCIB”)
The TSX approved PHX Energy’s NCIB to purchase for cancellation, from time-to-time, up to a maximum of
2,929,494 common shares of the Corporation. Purchases of common shares will be made on the open market
through the facilities of the TSX and through alternative trading systems. The price which PHX Energy will pay for
any common shares purchased will be at the prevailing market price on the TSX or alternate trading systems at the
time of such purchase. The NCIB commenced on June 26, 2017 and will terminate on June 25, 2018 or such earlier
time as the NCIB is completed or terminated at the option of the Corporation. Pursuant to the NCIB, 192,000 shares
were purchased and cancelled by the Corporation during 2017.

12. Share Based Payments
a) Share Option Program (Equity-Settled)
PHX Energy has a share option program that entitles key management personnel and other employees to purchase
shares in the Corporation. Grants under the plan vest as to one-third 6 months from the grant date, one-third 18
months from grant date and one-third 30 months from grant date. In accordance with these programs, options are
exercisable using the five-day weighted-average trading price of the shares ending immediately prior to the date of
grant, or in the case of a US option holder, the trading price of the shares ending immediately prior to the date of
grant. The options have a term of five years.
Summary of option grants in 2017
Number

Exercise Price

Expiration Date

4.06

March 3, 2022

490,000

4.15

March 3, 2022

1.73

575,000

1.79

August 15, 2022

0.73

175,000

1.71

August 15, 2022

0.76

1,350,000

$

Fair Value
$

1.76

2,590,000

During the year ended December 31, 2017, a total of 91,666 options (2016 – 116,399) were exercised at exercise
prices of $1.55, a total of 230,755 options were forfeited (2016 – 220,086), 62,579 options were cancelled (2016 –
25,501), and 168,335 options expired (2016 – 437,504).
As at December 31, 2017, the Corporation had a total of 5,499,468 (2016 – 3,462,803) options outstanding which
expire over a period of 1 year to 5 years.
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The fair value of options that were exercised for the year ended December 31, 2017 in the amount of $101,547 has
been added to share capital.
The Corporation values all of its share options using the Black-Scholes model. The Corporation’s determination of
fair value of options on the date of grant is affected by the Corporation’s share price as well as assumptions regarding
a number of variables. For the options granted during 2017 these variables include, but are not limited to, the
Corporation’s expected share price volatility over the term of the options of 50 percent, forfeiture rate of 1 percent,
and a risk free interest rate of 1.58 percent. The amounts computed according to the Black-Scholes model method
may not be indicative of the actual values realized upon the exercise of these options by the holders.
During 2017, the Corporation recognized a total compensation expense of $2,600,015 (2016 - $1,542,013) for share
options granted between 2014 and 2017.
A summary of the status of the plan as at December 31, 2017, is presented below:

Options
Outstanding, beginning of year

3,462,803

Granted
Exercised
Forfeited / cancelled
Expired

2017
Weighted-Average
Exercise Price
$

Options

2016
Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

5.27

2,362,293

2,590,000

3.41

1,900,000

1.65

(91,666)

1.55

(116,399)

1.86

(293,334)

3.88

(245,587)

8.53

(168,335)

9.18

$

9.41

(437,504)

10.95

Outstanding, end of year

5,499,468

$

4.41

3,462,803

$

5.27

Options exercisable, end of year

3,006,123

$

5.73

1,873,628

$

7.43

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at December 31, 2017 are as follows:
Options Outstanding
Original Exercise
Price
$

Options Exercisable

Number

Weighted-Average
Remaining Contractual Life

1.55

1,378,334

3.18 yrs

1.71

175,000

4.63 yrs

1.71

-

1.71

1.79

575,000

4.63 yrs

1.79

100,000

1.79

1.95

165,267

3.18 yrs

1.95

68,599

1.95

3.41

25,000

3.89 yrs

3.41

25,000

3.41

4.06

1,330,000

4.17 yrs

4.06

444,996

4.06

4.15

415,000

4.17 yrs

4.15

44,998

4.15

6.87 - 15.81

1,435,867

1.64 yrs

9.24

1,435,867

9.24

5,499,468

3.29 yrs

4.41

3,006,123
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Exercise Price
$

$

1.55

Number
886,663

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price
$

$

1.55

5.73
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b) Retention Award (“RA”) Plan
The retention award plan results in eligible participants receiving cash compensation in relation to the value of a
specified number of underlying notional RA. RAs vest evenly over a period of three-years. Upon vesting and
subsequent exercise, the holder is entitled to receive a cash payment based on the fair value of the underlying shares
determined using the five-day weighted-average trading price of the shares ending immediately prior to the exercise
date plus accrued re-invested dividends.
The Corporation recorded a total of $1.3 million compensation expense relating to this plan for the year ended
December 31, 2017 (2016 - $4.1 million). The expense is included in selling, general and administrative expense
and has a corresponding liability included in trade and other payables. There were 2,103,040 RAs outstanding as at
December 31, 2017 (2016 – 1,789,522).
A summary of the status of the plan as at December 31, 2017, is presented below:
RAs Outstanding, beginning of year

2017
1,789,522

2016
1,418,857

Granted

1,199,962

1,166,506

-

8,358

Units, in lieu of dividends
Settled

(712,604)

(583,661)

Forfeited / cancelled

(173,840)

(220,538)

RAs Outstanding, end of year

2,103,040
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13. Expenses by Nature
(Stated in thousands of dollars)

Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

78,025

58,131

3,915

5,636

Personnel expenses

81,940

63,767

Depreciation and amortization

41,621

49,752

Equipment expenses

50,206

27,471

Contract labour

36,464

17,875

Consumed repair parts

24,828

13,476

Facility and office expenses

10,734

10,290

Field and freight expenses

12,082

7,989

Travel and entertainment

4,389

3,649

Insurance and business and sales taxes

4,100

3,566

Provisions for inventory

1,073

3,217

Salaries and employee benefits
Share-based payments

Provision for onerous contracts

(437)

2,300

Legal and audit fees

1,350

1,131

Other

2,261

1,641

270,611

206,124

The total amount of expenses represents the aggregate of direct costs, selling, general and administrative expenses, and
research and development expenses in the statements of comprehensive loss.

14. Other Income (Expense)
Years ended December 31,

2017

Net gain on disposition of drilling equipment

$

6,061,340

Foreign exchange (loss) gain

(246,436)

Provision for bad debts

(478,707)
$
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5,336,197

2016
$

114,656
30,451
(369,159)

$

(224,052)
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15. Income Taxes
Years ended December 31,

2017

2016

Current tax expense (recovery):
Current period

$

Adjustment for prior periods

449,535

$

(4,285,386)

(37,770)

(320,680)

411,765

(4,606,066)

(3,250,510)

(9,428,867)

Deferred tax recovery:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Adjustment for prior periods

82,099

651,945

(3,168,411)
Total income tax recovery

$

(2,756,646)

(8,776,922)
$

(13,382,988)

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Years ended December 31,

2017

Net loss

$

2016

(23,527,974)

$

(46,516,796)

Total income tax recovery

(2,756,646)

(13,382,988)

Loss before income taxes

(26,284,620)

(59,899,784)

Income tax using the Corporation’s domestic tax rate
Non-taxable portion of gains on disposal of assets
Current year income (losses) in foreign jurisdictions for which
no deferred tax asset was recognized

(7,096,850)

27.0%

(16,172,942)

27.0%

(276,195)

1.1%

(76,127)

0.1%

593,455

(2.2%)

3,120,583

(11.9%)

2,573,083

(4.3%)

Non-deductible share-based payments and other
expenses

940,286

(3.6%)

645,765

(1.1%)

Effect of change in U.S. tax rate

(220,182)

0.8%

-

-

Other

182,257

(0.7%)

374,333

(0.6%)

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions

$

-75-

(2,756,646)

10.5%

(727,100)

$

(13,382,988)

1.2%

22.3%
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16. Operating Segments
The Corporation provides directional and horizontal oil and natural gas well drilling services. PHX Energy’s reportable
segments have been aligned geographically as follows:
Information about reportable segments
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Canada
Years ended December 31,
Revenue
Reportable segment loss before
income taxes

United States

International

Total

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

84,405

53,996

137,625

78,593

18,971

15,812

241,001

148,401

(5,162)

(18,526)

(14,928)

(31,151)

(21,049)

(50,132)

(959)

(455)

(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Canada
As at December 31,
Drilling and other equipment
Goodwill

United States

International

Total

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

44,236

49,961

44,415

58,950

9,919

12,261

98,570

121,172

8,876

8,876

-

-

-

-

8,876

8,876

Reconciliation of reportable segment loss and other material items
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Years ended December 31,

2017

Reportable segment loss before income taxes

$

(21,049)

2016
$

(50,132)

Corporate:
Selling, general and administrative expenses

6,098

5,591

Research and development expenses

2,463

2,001

Finance expense

2,011

1,952

Other (income) expense

(5,336)

224

Loss before income taxes

$

-76-

(26,285)

$

(59,900)
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17. Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital
(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Years ended December 31,

2017

Trade and other receivables

$

Inventories

(25,083)

2016
$

3,142

2,979

5,273

Prepaid expenses

(302)

255

Investment and foreign tax credits

(607)

481

Trade and other payables

10,435

Impact of foreign exchange rate changes in working capital

822

(3,886)
$

(16,464)

(6,612)
$

3,361

18. Financial Instruments
a) Credit Risk
The Corporation is exposed to normal credit risks of its customers that exist within the oil and natural gas exploration
and development industry. The Corporation’s credit risk associated with these customers can be directly impacted
by a decline in economic conditions, which would impair the customers’ ability to satisfy their obligations to the
Corporation. During the year ended December 31, 2017, one customer comprised 8 percent of the total revenue
(2016 - 7 percent of revenue). The customer’s revenue is reported within the US operating segment.
As at December 31, 2017, the ageing of trade and other receivables that were not impaired was as follows:
(Stated in thousands of dollars)

2017

Neither past due nor impaired

$

39,365

Past due 1-30 days

18,664

Past due 31-60 days

5,722

Past due 61-90 days

1,269

Past due over 90 days

1,615
$

66,635

The Corporation’s standard customer payment terms are 30 days after job completion or invoice issuance date, after
which, the balance becomes past due. The Corporation will assess for impairment once the receivable becomes
past due. All accounts receivable balances that are past due for more than 90 days and were not impaired represent
2 percent or approximately $1.6 million of total receivables on the statement of financial position at December 31,
2017. Management believes that the unimpaired amounts that are past due are still collectible in full, based on
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historic payment behavior and extensive analysis of customer credit risk. Management has provided an allowance
of $0.8 million for all amounts it considers uncollectable at December 31, 2017 (2016 - $0.7 million).
The Corporation has a credit management program to assist in managing this risk, which consists of conducting
financial and other assessments to establish and monitor a customer’s creditworthiness. The Corporation monitors
and manages its credit risk on an ongoing basis.

b) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Corporation has financial liabilities, thus, is exposed to liquidity risk. The Corporation’s approach to managing liquidity
risk is to ensure that it always has sufficient cash and credit facilities to meet its obligations when due. Management
typically forecasts cash flows for a period of twelve months to identify financing requirements. These requirements
are then addressed through a combination of demand credit facilities and access to capital markets. The Corporation
believes that future cash flows generated by the operations and access to additional liquidity through capital and
banking markets will be adequate to meet its financial obligations.
The following table reflects the Corporation’s anticipated payment of contractual obligations related to continuing
operations as at December 31, 2017:
(Stated in thousands of dollars)

Loans and borrowings
Drilling and other equipment
purchase commitments
Trade and other payables

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

5,620

-

14,000

-

-

5,381

-

-

-

-

41,630

-

-

-

-

52,631

-

14,000

-

-

c) Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The Corporation has designated its trade and other payables and dividends payable as other financial liabilities
carried at amortized cost. Accounts receivable are designated as loans and receivables, measured at amortized
cost. The Corporation’s carrying values of these items approximate their fair value due to the relatively short periods
to maturity of the instruments. Loans and borrowings have been designated as an other financial liability, and are
measured at amortized cost. The fair value of loans and borrowings included in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximates carrying values as the indebtedness is subject to floating rates of interest.
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d) Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is created by fluctuations in the fair values of financial instruments due to changes in the market
interest rates. The Corporation has variable interest long-term debt which exposes it to fluctuations in cash interest
payment amounts.
A one percent change in interest rates would have increased or decreased the Corporation’s profit by $151,762 for
the year ended December 31, 2017.

e) Foreign Exchange Risk
Foreign exchange risk is created by fluctuations in the fair values of financial instruments due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. Due to operations of the Corporation’s subsidiaries in the US and Russia, the Corporation has an
exposure to foreign currency exchange rates. The carrying values of Canadian dollar, US dollar and Russian ruble
(“RUB”) denominated monetary assets and liabilities and earnings are subject to foreign exchange risk. For the year
ended December 31, 2017, foreign exchange losses of $0.2 million (2016 - nil) resulted mainly from fluctuations in
the USD-CAD exchange rates. The Corporation reviews options with respect to managing its foreign exchange risk
periodically.
The following chart represents the Corporation’s exposure to foreign currency risk:

As at December 31, 2017

CAD

USD

RUB

Cash and cash equivalents

-

(22,376)

90,149,327

Trade and other receivables

-

79,230

223,816,391

Trade and other payables

-

Intercompany receivables

6,004,858

-

-

Intercompany payables

(8,460,819)

-

-

Statement of financial position exposure

(2,455,961)

As at December 31, 2016

(2,245,877)

(2,189,023)

(216,501)

313,749,217

CAD

USD

RUB

Cash and cash equivalents

-

685,424

105,028,759

Trade and other receivables

-

30,750

199,254,243

Trade and other payables

-

Intercompany receivables

353,933

-

-

Intercompany payables

(3,936,724)

-

-

Statement of financial position exposure

(3,582,791)
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(2,094,230)

(1,378,056)

(14,410,928)

289,872,074
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The following significant exchange rates applied during the year ended December 31:
Average Rate
2017
1.2980
44.9743

USD
RUB

2016
1.3256
50.5973

December 31, Close Rate
2017
1.2545
45.9258

2016
1.3427
44.9710

A strengthening of the Canadian dollar, US dollar, and Russian ruble against all other currencies as at December 31
would have affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency and affected profit
or loss by the amounts shown below. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

Gain (Loss)
CAD (10% strengthening)
USD (10% strengthening)
RUB (10% strengthening)

$

2017
(195,772) $
(274,613)
621,060

2016
(266,835)
(185,032)
585,978

19. Capital Management
The Corporation’s primary objective of capital management is to maintain a strong capital base, in conjunction with
conservative long-term debt levels so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence, and to sustain future
development of the business. The Corporation seeks to maintain a balance between higher returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security created by a strong equity position.
The Corporation’s Management considers the capital structure to consist of long-term debt, including any current portion
of long-term debt, and shareholders’ equity. As at December 31, 2017, the Corporation had $19.6 million (2016 – $35.0
million) in loans and borrowings and $181.5 million (2016 – $178.4 million) in shareholders’ equity. The Corporation’s
resulting long-term debt to equity ratio was 0.11 as at December 31, 2017 (2016 – 0.20).
The Corporation prepares annual and quarterly operating and capital expenditure budgets, and forecasts to assist with the
management of its capital. The Corporation intends to maintain a flexible capital structure and it may alter its dividend levels,
raise new equity or issue new debt in response to a change in economic conditions.
The Corporation is subject to capital requirements relating to debt covenants on debt facilities held. As at December 31, 2017,
the Corporation was in compliance with all debt covenants.
There were no changes to the Corporation’s approach to capital management during the year ended December 31, 2017.
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20. Operating Leases
The Corporation is committed to the following minimum payments under operating leases for equipment, vehicles, and
premises:
2017
2018

$

7,191

2016
$

7,339

2019

6,660

7,033

2020

6,270

6,700

2021

5,962

6,282

2022 and after

5,325

6,046

During 2017, $6.9 million was recognized as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income in respect of operating
leases (2016 – $6.4 million).

21. Related Parties
Transactions with Key Management Personnel
Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the Corporation as a whole. The Corporation determined that key management personnel consists of
members of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, President, Senior Vice Presidents and Vice Presidents reporting
directly to the Chief Executive Officer.
In addition to their salaries, the Corporation also provides its executive officers with annual incentives which consist of
bonuses and commissions that the Compensation Committee considers comparable to benefits provided to executives
of other publicly traded oil and natural gas service companies.
Executive officers also participate in the Corporation’s share option program and retention award plan.
The Corporation, either directly or indirectly through its subsidiaries, has entered into executive employment agreements
with certain executive officers that provide for termination payments. These agreements continue indefinitely until
terminated in accordance with the terms thereof and the base salary payable thereunder is subject to annual review.
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Key management personnel compensation comprised:

Years ended December 31,

2017

Base salaries, benefits, and directors’ remuneration

$

Short-term bonuses and commissions
Share-based compensation
$

1,912,224

2016
$

1,538,807

588,310

241,450

3,983,425

3,373,650

6,483,959

$

5,153,907

Key management personnel and director transactions
Directors of the Corporation control 15 percent of the shares of the Corporation.
Directors are entitled to receive an annual retainer as well as a fee for each meeting of the Board or Committee of the
Board attended. The Chairman of the Board and the Lead Director receive an additional annual retainer, as do the Chairs
of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee. Directors are
also entitled to participate in the retention award plan (see Note 12) and can elect to receive certain percentages of these
fees as RAs under the retention award plan. As at December 31, 2017, the directors have 607,480 of RAs outstanding
(2016 – 450,169).
From time-to-time, Directors of the Corporation, or their related entities, may purchase goods or services from the
Corporation. These purchases are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by other Corporation
employees or customers. For the year ended December 31, 2017, no purchase of goods or services from or to a related
party occurred (2016 – nil).

22. Significant Subsidiaries
Ownership Interest
Country of Incorporation

2017

2016

Phoenix Technology Services Inc.

Canada

100%

100%

Phoenix Technology Services LP

Canada

100%

100%

Phoenix Technology Services USA Inc.

USA

100%

100%

Phoenix Technology Services Luxembourg Sarl.

Luxembourg

100%

100%

Ltd.1

Cyprus

100%

100%

Russia

100%

100%

Phoenix Technology Services International
Phoenix TSR LLC
1 Entity

holds a branch in Albania.
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